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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
 
Dear Shareholder,  
 
I am delighted to present an overview of your Company’s activities for the year ended 30th June 2010. 
 
During the financial year, the Company continued the exploration of its mineral resource portfolio with 
an ongoing focus on expanding known gold resources and commencing exploration on its iron ore 
assets, set against a backdrop of increasing commodity prices. 
 
Exploration was commenced on the Company’s newly acquired South Laverton Gold Project.  Drilling 
programs at the Blue Peter prospect at Mt Celia and the Patricia North prospect at Stophanis Well 
intersected significant gold mineralisation.  At Blue Peter, four zones of gold mineralisation with a 
combined strike length of 740m were defined with numerous high grade gold intersections including 
3m @ 21.7 g/t gold and 4m @ 12.1 g/t gold.  At Patricia North, shallow aircore drilling intersected a 
gold mineralised zone extending for some 800m with a best result of 8m @ 2.72 g/t gold.   
 
Aggressive drilling on these new targets is planned for the coming year together with drilling aiming to 
increase the existing 90,600 oz gold resource base at the Company’s Mt Celia, Yerilla and Yilgangi 
tenements. 
 
The strong iron ore spot price saw an increased in exploration amongst iron ore explorers, with 
Legacy also increasing exploration following the granting of permits for the Hamersley and Robertson 
Range iron ore tenements.  
 
Helicopter assisted field programs resulted in the discovery of significant CID iron ore mineralisation at 
the Hamersley Project, with initial sampling showing consistently high iron ore grades averaging 
61.1% CaFe with low impurities.   
 
At Robertson Range, high resolution aeromagnetics pointed to the presence of several linear 
magnetic anomalies that could be related to sand covered CID iron ore deposits.  Reconnaissance 
drill testing of these anomalies has recently been completed and assays are awaited. Field mapping 
has also shown the presence of significant high grade manganese mineralisation in an area which has 
received no prior exploration or drilling.  
 
Aircore and RC drilling programs for these iron ore and manganese targets is planned for the 
forthcoming year 
 
The past year has also seen the Company further strengthen its financial position, raising $4.3m via a 
combination of an underwritten rights issue and a placement. The Company is now well positioned to 
continue its aggressive drilling programs and seek acquisition opportunities to further expand its 
resource assets.  
 
On a corporate front, the Company entered into various discussions with parties looking to acquire 
strategic positions in the iron ore assets. The Company continues to hold discussions with parties who 
can add value to shareholders and fast track the development of key projects.  
 
Legacy has achieved significant exploration success in the 2009/10 year as well as seeking to 
enhance its asset base through the review of additional projects.  
The Company remains well positioned to capitalise on improving resource prices, with an aggressive 
exploration program planned during the year ahead. The Directors, who have contributed greatly to 
the Company’s activities, will continue to seek the best way forward to enhance shareholders value. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
Timothy Turner 
Chairman  
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OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
IRON ORE 
 
Legacy has two substantial iron ore projects located close to infrastructure in the Pilbara of Western 
Australia.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 1: Iron ore projects 

 
Hamersley Project 
 
The Hamersley Project lies 60 kilometres due west of Tom Price in the West Pilbara of Western 
Australia.  The project comprises two Exploration Licences (E47/1868 and E47/1869) covering an 
area of some 48 square kilometres.  
 
The tenements flank the Beasley River CID iron ore resource, with the eastern tenement E47/1869 
immediately abutting the Hamersley Iron leases (Figure 2).  The Beasley River deposit contains a 
resource of some 400Mt of iron ore that takes the form of a series of elongate mesas and ridges 
occupying an ancient drainage line.  This drainage line extends from the Hamersley Iron Bedded Iron 
Deposits (“BIDs”) in the north including the Brockman ore bodies, to the far south within the Rocklea 
Dome.  The southern extensions within the Rocklea Dome are largely under cover and have been 
subject to recent drilling by adjoining holders Murchison Metals Ltd (“Murchison”) and AusQuest Ltd 
(“AusQuest”).  Murchison have recently released a scoping study showing a resource of 89Mt of ore 
grading 59.9% CaFe (53.2% Fe) using a 50% Fe lower cut off.  The resource has low phosphorus, 
and moderate silica-alumina that can be reduced by simple scrubbing/jigging.  AusQuest have 
announced a resource of 63.1Mt at 60.37% CaFe (53.38% Fe) using a 50% Fe lower cut off.  
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 2: Hamersley Project - Quickbird Satellite Imagery showing ‘high iron’ targets 
in purple, central Beasley River CID deposit and Beasley River East Prospect 

on an eastern tributary to Beasley River 
 
Field programs in March 2010 discovered outcropping CID mineralisation at the Beasley River East 
prospect with sampling over a 300m strike producing an average assay of 61.1% CaFe with low 
contaminants (Table 1).  This mineralisation appears comparable in type and grade with the 
Hamersley Iron Beasley River resource and those defined by Murchison Metals and Ausquest to the 
south. 
 
The hill lies at the western end of a substantial tributary system into the Beasley River, contained 
within E47/1869 (Figure 3).  The hill may represent an outcropping portion of a more extensive CID 
system extending to the east and north-east. Part of the outcropping mineralisation is shown in 
Figures 4 - 7 below. 
 
Table 1: Assays results for surface samples at the Beasley River East Prospect 

Sample No. Fe % CaFe % Si % Al % P % LOI % 
HR001 56.0 62.9 6.56 2.17 0.058 10.9 
HR002 55.8 62.8 6.20 2.37 0.046 11.1 
HR003 55.5 62.6 6.52 2.17 0.032 11.3 
HR004 56.0 63.3 5.65 2.41 0.077 11.6 
HR005 55.1 61.9 7.52 2.41 0.049 11.0 
HR006 53.3 60.15 9.24 2.70 0.044 11.4 
HR007 54.0 60.7 9.65 1.88 0.036 11.1 
HR008 56.0 63.3 5.56 2.74 0.047 11.6 
HR009 56.0 62.9 6.06 2.54 0.041 11.0 
HR010 49.8 54.0 8.73 10.4 0.050 7.81 
HR011 53.0 56.9 6.78 6.58 0.053 9.68 
HR012 53.0 57.0 7.48 8.45 0.059 7.01 
HR013 53.8 60.9 6.17 4.97 0.047 11.7 
HR014 55.9 63.3 4.88 3.31 0.041 11.7 
HR015 56.8 64.5 4.39 2.33 0.068 11.9 
Average 54.7 61.1 4.42 5.91 0.05 10.7 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
The assays show: 
 
• High iron contents averaging 54.7% Fe, or as better expressed as a calcined product CaFe – 

61.1%. 

• Low silica and alumina, at the low end of typical CID values. 

• Very low phosphorus, typical of CIDs. 
 
The samples were taken from the slopes and top of the hill, extending over the whole extent of the hill.  
The resulting assays are notably consistent, particularly in iron and phosphorus contents. 
 
The depth or thickness of the outcropping mineralisation is presently unknown. The width of the hill is 
some 150m, and the height of the hill above the surrounding creeks is some 25m on average.  It is 
probable that the CID deposit extends below the valley floor as an incised channel, but this would 
need to be confirmed with proposed drilling. 
 
These results are highly encouraging both for the potential for economic mineralisation at the Beasley 
River East prospect and for potential extensions to the east and northeast along the tributary drainage 
system. 
 
Further investigation remains to target potential CID and DID deposits in the northern sectors of both 
Hamersley tenements.  These targets represent potentially buried drainage systems originating from 
the Hamersley Ranges directly to the north which host the Brockman iron ore mines. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3: View to south showing central Beasley River East prospect on tributary 
drainage into the Hamersley Iron Beasley River CID deposit (on far right) 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

  
Figure 4: Beasley River East Prospect 

(view to east) 
Figure 5: Outcropping hematite-goethite mineralisation 

 
 

  
Figure 6: Outcropping mineralisation 

at top of hill 
Figure 7: Eastern part of prospect 

exposed iron mineralisation 
 
An RC drilling program is planned to establish the thickness and grade of the Beasley River East 
deposit at depth, and extend the deposit along strike.  A separate Aircore drilling program is also 
planned to reconnaissance test the potential for CID and DID iron ore mineralisation to the north 
(Figure 2) lying on the flanks of the Hamersley Ranges.   
 
Robertson Range Project 
 
The Robertson Range Project lies 100-120 kilometres east-northeast of Newman in the East Pilbara of 
Western Australia.  The project comprises three Exploration Licences - E45/3394, E45/3395 and 
E46/818 covering an area of some 800 square kilometres. The two major tenements E45/3395 and 
E46/818 were recently granted in December 2009.  The tenements are prospective for iron ore and 
manganese. 
 
The project tenements adjoin those of FerrAus Ltd and Atlas Iron Ltd which hold a combined resource 
base of some 200Mt of high grade iron ore. 
 
The acquisition and processing of Quickbird satellite imagery has  identified fourteen outcropping iron 
ore targets, and initial rock chip sampling of outcropping mineralisation has produced very 
encouraging high grade iron ore assays to 55.7% Fe (Figure 8).  Most outcropping mineralisation 
occurs in the south western part of E45/3395 at low hill tops, ridges and as accumulations within the 
low hills termed the Jim Jim hills (refer to Figure 9 below).  Sand dunes and colluvium typically 
obscure many contacts. The geometry of the iron rich zones varies from irregular subhorizontal layers 
to apparently steeply dipping fault controlled low ridges.    



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 7 
 

OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 8: E45/3395 Satellite Imagery Iron Ore Targets and Rock Chip Sample Results 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 9: Jim Jim 3 Outcropping hematite rich mineralisation 
 
 
 
 
 

RC drilling is planned to reconnaissance drill test the Jim Jim targets. 
 
CID targets 
 
Legacy has identified a series of roughly linear magnetic anomalies in the northeast sector of 
exploration licence E45/3395, one of which is coincident with a satellite imagery iron anomaly 
recognised previously but not sampled due to its remoteness from access tracks (Figures 10 and 11).   
 
These magnetic features may represent parts of potentially extensive channel iron deposits overlain 
by Quaternary alluvial and dune cover.  The magnetic features extend for at least 7 kilometres along 
strike and, if CIDs would likely extend much further to the southwest, the potential source area.   
 
A reconnaissance Aircore drilling program has been recently completed (late August 2010), and 
results are being compiled.   
 
The drilling encountered two NNE trending paleochannels buried under shallow alluvial and aeolian 
sand cover.  The channels contained cemented strongly ferruginous pisolitic and nodular gravels of 
presently unknown source. The width of the channels varied considerably between 50-200m, with 
thicknesses intersected up to 5m, but more typically in the 1-2m range.  Drillhole samples have been 
despatched to SGS, Perth for analysis. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 10: Aeromagnetics image of E45/3395 showing magnetic 

anomalies potentially representing CID mineralisation 
 
 

 
Figure 11: Aerial view of CID target area 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Robertson Range Project - Manganese 
 
Recent reconnaissance field work on exploration licence 46/818 has shown that most of the extensive 
370 square kilometre tenement is underlain by Balfour Formation manganiferous shales, masked in 
part by surprisingly thin alluvial cover (Figures 12 - 15).  The shales are host rocks to the major 
Nicholas Downs manganese mine located some 25km along strike to the NNE.  The Nicholas Downs 
deposit, previously known as the Balfour Downs deposit, is being developed by a joint venture 
comprising Hancock Prospecting and PMI (Mineral Resources Ltd).  Mining has recently commenced 
of this high grade manganese orebody which has a reported resource base of some 15 million tonnes, 
with a targeted production of 600,000 tonnes per annum of 38% manganese ore. 
 

 
Figure 12: Robertson Range Project – Exploration Licence E46/818 Geology 

 
Several areas of strongly manganiferous shales were mapped – contacts are typically obscured by 
thin alluvial wash.  In addition, at the Narmana prospect, low grade manganese mineralisation occurs 
on a low hill near a contact with Enacheddong Dolomite represented locally by banded cherts (Figures 
16 and 17).  This association bears similarities with manganese deposits located further to the north 
within the Manganese Subgroup e.g. Woodie Woodie.   
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 13: Manganiferous shales of the Balfour Formation, host to manganese mineralisation in the district 

 
Very little exploration is recorded on the tenement probably driven by the presence of masking thin 
alluvial deposits, and a historic exploration model relying on weathering and supergene enrichment to 
produce viable manganese deposits on topographic highs.  Recent work, e.g. in the Woodie Woodie 
area to the north, has shown that manganese mineralisation may result from hydrothermal fluids 
moving and precipitating along fault and fracture systems. 
 
Field mapping and sampling is planned for the Narmana prospect.  Given the high prospectivity of the 
ground, and the extensive but shallow alluvial cover, the company is planning to conduct a heliborne 
EM survey designed to detect substantial manganese mineralisation below cover and to depth.  This 
may be initially flown over the southern section incorporating the Narmana prospect.  This EM survey 
will be followed up with RC drilling of significant conductors.  
 

 
Figure 14: Manganiferous shales under very shallow alluvium 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 15: Surficial manganese mineralisation in outcropping shales 

 

 
Figure 16: Narmana Prospect – large low hill with outcropping manganiferous shales and cherts – prime exploration 

sequence 

 
Figure 17: Narmana Prospect - Surficial manganese mineralisation in outcropping shales 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
GOLD 
 
The Company has two key focus areas for gold; the South Laverton and the East Kimberley regions, 
both in Western Australia.  
 
Legacy’s major interest lies in the South Laverton region, where the company holds some 560 square 
kilometres of prospective ground. The South Laverton project area lies along the Keith Kilkenny 
Tectonic Zone (KKTZ) and the southern part of the Laverton Tectonic Zone (LTZ). These structures 
host numerous major gold mines, with the LTZ in particular hosting gold resources of some 20 million 
ounces.  

 
Figure 18: South Laverton Gold Project  
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Mount Celia Project 
 
The Mt Celia Project lies within the Laverton Tectonic Zone some 40 km south of the Sunrise Dam 
gold mine (8 Moz gold resource), as shown in Figures 19 and 20. 
 

 
Figure 19: Location of the Mt Celia Project within the Laverton Tectonic Zone 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 20: Satellite image of Legacy’s Mt Celia and Safari tenements (green) in relation to major gold mines in 
the Laverton Tectonic Zone 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
The Mt Celia Project contains a JORC inferred resource of 46,000 oz gold at Kangaroo Bore (1.04 Mt 
@ 1.4 g/t gold using a 0.7 g/t cutoff).  The project area also contains several poorly explored gold 
prospects defined by soil and RAB geochemistry. 
 
Past exploration at Mt Celia had focussed on the Kangaroo Bore historic workings with very little 
drilling conducted to the south – presumably on account of now resolved heritage issues. 
 
Since grant of tenure in December 2009, Legacy has focussed attention on the Blue Peter shear 
system, and commissioned a comprehensive native heritage survey that has cleared the area of 
exploration from heritage sites. 
 
An initial RC drilling program was directed towards the Blue Peter shear system containing several 
small historic gold workings (Figures 21 and 22).  The shear system extends over a distance of at 
least 2 kilometres, and consists of single, parallel or en echelon quartz filled shears within mafic and 
lesser ultramafic lithologies, that flank an eastern granitoid.  This geometry coupled with the 
widespread gold dry blowings is favourable for a bulk tonnage gold potential for the system.   
 
 

 
Figure 21: Mt Celia Project.  Aerial image showing the main Kangaroo Bore and Blue Peter prospects 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 22: Mt Celia Project – Blue Peter Prospect RC Drilling 

 
A total of 1790m of RC drilling in 35 holes was successfully completed with excellent recoveries by 
NDRC Drilling.  A drilling location plan is presented in Figure 23 below. All drillholes were drilled at an 
angle of 60 degrees to grid west.  In general, drilling intersected the shear some 30 – 50m below the 
surface.  A number of drillholes were paired with a parallel but deeper hole. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 23: Blue Peter Prospect – RC Drillhole collars showing significant intersections 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
This first drilling program has produced some highly encouraging intersections with most being open 
at depth and along strike.  The most significant intersections are: 
 
• BPC 01 28 – 31m    3m @ 21.71 g/t gold including 1m @ 62.75 g/t gold 
• BPC 011 56 – 60m    4m @ 12.11 g/t gold including 2m @ 19.67 g/t gold 
• BPC 010 33 – 38m    5m @ 8.26 g/t gold 
• BPC 026 25 – 28m    3m @ 11.1 g/t gold 
• BPC 027 47 – 49m    2m @ 17.12 g/t gold 
• BPC 029 47 - 51m     4m @ 7.01 g/t gold 
• BPC 002 23 – 30m    7m @ 3.46 g/t gold 
• BPC 028 24 - 28m     4m @ 4.23 g/t gold 
• BPC 035 22 – 25m    3m @ 4.82 g/t gold 
• BPC 012 31 – 34m    3m @ 4.65 g/t gold   
• BPC 008 24 – 26m    2m @ 3.39 g/t gold 
• BPC 034 24 – 25m    1m @ 8.31 g/t gold 
• BPC 021 24 – 25m    1m @ 7.47 g/t gold 
• BPC 025 47 – 49m    2m @ 3.39 g/t gold 
• BPC 010 27 – 29m    2m @ 2.31 g/t gold 
• BPC 013 66 – 68m    2m @ 2.75 g/t gold 
• BPC 008 15 – 17m    2m @ 2.66 g/t gold 

 
 
All significant assay results are presented in Table 2. 
 
As shown in Figure 24, gold mineralisation appears to be associated mainly with the hanging wall and 
footwall contacts of a quartz lode – a zone of quartz veins and stringers that shows patchy visible gold 
and pyrite.  Panning of individual samples produced numerous occurrences of visible gold, and further 
sampling and assaying will be undertaken including screen fire assaying. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 24: Drill Sections 
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OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Mineralisation identified to date is open at depth, and in many cases along strike. Significant gold 
mineralisation has so far been outlined in four areas along the shear system (Figure 23).  The 
combined strike length of these four areas is presently 740m. 
 
A follow up RC drilling program is planned to infill along strike, and to follow the mineralisation at depth 
– initially to about 100-120m below surface.  Statutory approval for this program is currently being 
sought, and a drilling rig booked to commence in mid October 2010. 
 
Table 2: 
 

Drillhole North (m) East (m) Azimuth From (m) To (m) Gold g/t Width  # 
  

  
degrees 

 
  

  BPC001 6740177 452009 215 28.0 29.0 1.19   
BPC001 

   
29.0 30.0 62.75 3 metres at 21.71 

BPC001 
   

30.0 31.0 1.24   
BPC001       33.0 34.0 1.21 

 BPC002 6740152 452038 215 23.0 24.0 1.62   
BPC002 

   
24.0 25.0 1.82   

BPC002 
   

25.0 26.0 3.50   
BPC002 

   
26.0 27.0 4.66 7 metres at 3.46 

BPC002 
   

27.0 28.0 4.31   
BPC002 

   
28.0 29.0 5.09   

BPC002       29.0 30.0 3.19   
BPC003 6740119 452104 215 28.0 29.0 1.73 2 metres at 1.89 
BPC003 

   
29.0 30.0 2.06   

BPC003       30.0 31.0 1.98 
 BPC008 6740656 451618 240 15.0 16.0 4.13 2 metres at 2.66 

BPC008 
   

16.0 17.0 1.19   
BPC008 

   
24.0 25.0 5.77 2 metres at 3.39 

BPC008       25.0 26.0 1.02   
BPC009 6740665 451627 242 36.0 37.0 5.56 

 BPC009 
   

46.0 47.0 1.46 
 BPC009 

   
51.0 52.0 1.76 2 metres at 1.42 

BPC009       52.0 53.0 1.08   
BPC010 6740690 451608 240 14.0 15.0 1.03 

 BPC010 
   

27.0 28.0 2.56 2 metres at 2.31 
BPC010 

   
28.0 29.0 2.07   

BPC010 
   

33.0 34.0 3.39   
BPC010 

   
34.0 35.0 9.43   

BPC010 
   

35.0 36.0 12.10 5 metres at 8.26 
BPC010       36.0 37.0 13.03   
BPC010       37.0 38.0 3.38   
BPC011 6740696 451624 240 44.0 45.0 1.74 2 metres at 1.86 
BPC011 

   
45.0 46.0 1.98   

BPC011 
   

56.0 57.0 1.24   
BPC011 

   
57.0 58.0 22.35 4 metres at 12.11 

BPC011 
   

58.0 59.0 17.00   
BPC011       59.0 60.0 7.84   
BPC012 6740699 451588 233 7.0 8.0 1.10 

 BPC012 
   

21.0 22.0 2.16 
 BPC012 

   
31.0 32.0 1.82   

BPC012 
   

32.0 33.0 9.97 3 metres at 4.65 
BPC012       33.0 34.0 2.15   
BPC013 6740716 451591 240 44.0 45.0 2.58 3 metres at 1.61 
BPC013 

   
45.0 46.0 1.18   

BPC013 
   

46.0 47.0 1.08   
BPC013 

   
61.0 62.0 9.04 

 BPC013 
   

64.0 65.0 1.62 
 BPC013 

   
66.0 67.0 1.84 2 metres at 2.75 

BPC013       67.0 68.0 3.67   
BPC014 6740748 451566 240 22.0 23.0 1.07 2 metres at 1.72 
BPC014 

   
23.0 24.0 2.37   

BPC014       40.0 41.0 1.17   
BPC015 6740752 451587 240 65.0 66.0 1.85   
BPC018 6740814 451523 238 39.0 40.0 1.03   
BPC019 6740720 451485 235 30.0 31.0 1.25   
BPC021 6740790 451413 218 24.0 25.0 7.47 1 metre at 7.47 
BPC025 6740944 451407 218 47.0 48.0 4.99 2 metres at 3.39 
BPC025       48.0 49.0 1.79   
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Drillhole North (m) East (m) Azimuth From (m) To (m) Gold g/t Width  # 
  

  
degrees 

 
  

  BPC026 6740958 451365 220 25.0 26.0 6.11   
BPC026 

   
26.0 27.0 19.40 3 metres at 11.1 

BPC026       27.0 28.0 7.80   
BPC027 6740971 451379 219 47.0 48.0 25.40 2 metres at 17.12 
BPC027       48.0 49.0 8.85   
BPC028 6740982 451341 220 24.0 25.0 1.46   
BPC028 

 
  

 
25.0 26.0 1.83 4 metres at 4.23 

BPC028 
   

26.0 27.0 4.18   
BPC028       27.0 28.0 9.44   
BPC029 6740995 451353 222 47.0 48.0 3.10   
BPC029 

   
48.0 49.0 10.2 4 metres at 7.01 

BPC029   
  

49.0 50.0 6.83   
BPC029       50.0 51.0 7.91   
BPC030 6741002 451312 220 22.0 23.0 2.51   
BPC031 6741016 451323 221 27.0 28.0 3.17 

 BPC031 
   

32.0 33.0 1.03 
 BPC031 

   
37.0 38.0 3.29 

 BPC031       45.0 46.0 3.67 
 BPC033 6741037 451292 225 35.0 36.0 3.06   

BPC033 
   

36.0 37.0 1.10 3 metres at 2.09 
BPC033       37.0 38.0 2.12   
BPC034 6741341 450982 215 24.0 25.0 8.31 

 BPC035 6741358 450964 215 22.0 23.0 11.4   
BPC035 

   
23.0 24.0 1.54 3 metres at 4.82 

BPC035       24.0 25.0 1.53   
 
# The true width of intersections is estimated to vary between 60 – 75% of the drilling intersections noted above. 

 
 
 
 
Stophanis Well Project – Patricia North 
 
The Stophanis Well Project lies in and adjacent to a major deformation zone that hosts significant gold 
mineralisation.  The project area flanks a small internal granitoid stock along strike of the now 
abandoned Patricia open cut gold mine (Figure 25). 
 

 
Figure 25: Patricia gold mine (abandoned) – view to south 

 
Two phases of RAB drilling have now been completed at the Patricia North prospect located north 
along strike of the abandoned Patricia mine. This drilling has produced highly encouraging gold 
intersections (Figure 26).  Three sub parallel mineralised zones have been outlined by the drilling.  
Most drilling has, to date, been conducted on the far western zone where drill rig access was less 
constrained by small salt lakes and dunes.  Drilling has defined a zone of mineralisation over some 
700m in this zone. 
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The most significant results to date include: 
 
SWR 150  8 – 12m 4m@ 1.67 g/t gold 
  12 – 16m 4m @ 3.77 g/t gold 
  (or 8 – 16m  8m @ 2.72 g/t gold) 
 
SWR 023 0 – 4m  4m @ 0.8 g/t gold 
SWR 171 24 – 28m  4m@ 0.58 g/t gold   
 
Drilling intersected a mixed sequence of sheared steeply dipping lithologies including mafic schists, 
sediments and possible porphyritic intrusives.  Mineralisation appears associated with or without 
quartz veining, or with variably oxidised pyrite. 
 
The results are highly encouraging in that drilling has confirmed the presence of several extensive 
mineralised zones and produced ore grade intercepts in still widely spaced RAB drilling at shallow 
depths.  RAB drilling in the vicinity of the best intersection at drillhole SWR 150 is still at 100m x 50m 
spacing. 
 
A comprehensive RC drilling program is planned to investigate the mineralised intercepts at depth and 
along strike.   
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Figure 26: Patricia North RAB drilling results showing mineralised zones as defined to date Yerilla Project 

 
 
The Yerilla project, located 150 kilometres northeast of Kalgoorlie, lies over the margins of a small 
syenite stock enveloped by a shear system, representing a splay from the major Keith Kilkenny 
Tectonic Zone (KKTZ).  To the north, the KKTZ hosts the major Leonora gold mining camp.  
Numerous small gold workings are present in the tenements, with the most significant being the Bull 
Terrier deposit, which has an Inferred Resource of 527,000t at 1.92g/t gold (1.0g/t cutoff) for 32,500 
ounces gold. 
 
Following heritage and statutory approvals, it is proposed to conduct an Aircore drilling program that 
will test the southern margins of the Bull Terrier deposit, and also an extensive area of gold in soils 
anomalism at the Dingo prospect further to the south, where gold has been worked from laterite 
overlying the south margin of the syenite stock, as shown in (Figure 27) below. 
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Figure 27: Gold in soil geochemistry (yellow-red highs), with potential structural targets (blue)  
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East Kimberley Project  

 
The East Kimberley Project tenements are located in the Halls Creek area. Halls Creek occurs 347 
kilometres south of Kununurra and is readily accessible via the sealed Great Northern Highway. The 
tenements comprise seven exploration licences, covering an area of 370 square kilometres in this 
highly prospective area for gold, base metal and manganese mineralisation (Figure 28).   
 

 
Figure 28: Location of East Kimberley Projects 

 
During the year, two tenements (E80/3897 and E80/3923) were farmed out to AusQuest Limited who 
had discovered high grade bedded manganese outcrops in their adjoining Wolfe Project. The target 
manganese horizon - the lower contact of the Eliot Range Dolomite with the underlying Mt Kinahan 
Sandstone - has strike continuity into the Legacy tenements.  AusQuest have now withdrawn from the 
joint venture, and Legacy is currently reviewing exploration options. 
 
An helicopter assisted reconnaissance field trip was made to the project tenements during the year.  
The principal intention of the field trip was to evaluate the newly granted tenements, and prioritize 
future work.  From this evaluation, it was decided that specific focus should be directed to the Koongie 
Park and Antrim Plateau exploration licences (E80/4221 and E80/3923 respectively).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 26 
 

OPERATIONS REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Koongie Park lies adjacent to the Koongie Park base metal deposit held by Anglo Australian 
Resources NL (“AAR”).  This is an advanced copper – zinc - gold project with major base metal 
deposits defined at the Onedin and Sandiego prospects. The deposits are of the VHMS type 
(volcanogenic hosted massive sulphide) – the same type as the recent discoveries in the Peak Hill 
district by Sandfire Resources.  The project is currently undergoing a feasibility study incorporating 
extensive drilling.  Recent drilling at the Sandego prospect has identified additional high grade copper 
zinc mineralisation including shallow high grade supergene copper (eg Drillhole SRC061 – 71m @ 
5.04% Cu, 7.69% Zn, 68 g/t Ag and 0.43 g/t gold*) 
 
(* Anglo Australian Resources NL   ASX announcement 22 June 2010) 
 
Legacy’s Koongie Park tenement lies adjacent to the AAR ground and contains in its northern sector 
the same volcanisedimentary package that hosts the base metal deposits identified to date (Figure 
29).  Much of the area is poorly exposed, but imminently accessible from the main Northern Highway.  
Although the area has been covered by earlier exploration, much has been reconnaissance in nature 
and without resource to modern geophysical and geochemical techniques.  Indeed, recent exploration 
and drilling at the known historically well explored prospects such as Sandiego by AAR has resulted in 
new discoveries of mineralisation. Modern geophysical techniques – in particular surface and down 
hole EM – have played a large part in recent ore body discoveries as at Sandfire Resource’s 
Doolgunna Project. 
 

 
Figure 29: Koongie Park Total magnetic intensity image – showing potentially prospective VHMS base metal 

stratigraphy (red) adjoining Anglo Australian Resources Koongie Park tenements, and base metal prospects identified 
by AAR 

 
A full analysis of past exploration data is underway, and a geochemical program has been planned to 
investigate priority target areas, particularly in the Earth Dam and Atlantis South areas.  This will likely 
be followed up with ground EM surveys in due course. 
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Under Due Diligence – Mt Bevan Iron Ore Project – Hawthorn Resources 
 
Legacy has signed a Letter of Offer with Hawthorn Resources Limited (ASX:HAW) agreeing to farm in 
to Hawthorn’s Mt Bevan Iron Ore Project. 
 
The Mt Bevan Project consists of Exploration Licences E29/210 and E29/713 located approximately 
100km west of the Leonora township in the central Yilgarn region of Western Australia (Figure 30). 
The project covers the northern parts of the Mt Ida Archaean greenstone belt.  Aeromagnetics and 
field mapping shows the presence of at least two extensive BIF horizons (Figure 31).  These horizons 
are interrupted in the middle of the tenement by a granitoid stock, with the northern and southern 
horizons extending for some 10 -12 km each.  The BIF horizons are largely present as outcrop and 
subcrop as shown in Figure 31.  Some portions are under presumably shallow colluvial and alluvial 
cover. 
 
Iron mineralisation noted to date in outcrop or subcrop includes pods of hematite of up to 20m in width 
and several hundred metres in strike length.  Most work has been directed to the southern portion of 
the tenement where it abuts the Mt Mason hematite prospect defined by Jupiter Mines Limited.  
Jupiter has reported a JORC compliant inferred resource of 5.75 Mt @ 59.9% Fe at Mt Mason.   
 
Drilling by Hawthorn has been almost exclusively devoted to targeting hematite mineralisation 
resulting in numerous significant intersections in the area north of the Mt Mason resource of Jupiter.  
Only the last RC program included the deeper magnetite rich mineralisation as its target, after drilling 
through potential shallow hematite positions.  Figure 32 provides a summary plan of the widely spaced 
drilling conducted to date, with Figure 33 showing an early drill section 
 

 
Figure 30: Location of Mt Bevan Iron Ore Project  
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Figure 31: Aeromagnetic image of Mt Bevan Project – showing BIF horizons as highly magnetic features 
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Figure 32: Mt Bevan Project – TM image showing BIF horizons and main target areas to date 
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Figure 33: Drill section showing DSO hematite and underlying magnetite rich mineralisation 

 
Although most drilling to date has not been directly targeting magnetite rich mineralisation within the 
BIFs, several drillholes collared during the later RC drilling program encountered thick coarse grained 
magnetite bearing units.  These units appear to extend over at least 10km based on aeromagnetics.  
Drilling intersected widths of up to 100m, with the footwall often not being reached (Figure 34).  It is 
probable that these units extend throughout the whole project area (circa 20 km in total).  Davis Tube 
Recovery testing returned excellent results comprising over 69% Fe with low deleterious impurities of 
Si, Al and P, from the sampled weathered near surface portions of the magnetite units. 
 
 

 
Figure 34: Drill section showing thick, moderately dipping magnetite rich mineralisation within the host BIFs 
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The close location to infrastructure including roads, a major rail line at Menzies and available port 
facilities at Esperance are also highly important positive factors in the development of a future 
resource.  Adjoining projects such as Jupiter Mines Mt Mason hematite (5.75 Mt at 59.9% Fe and Mt 
Ida magnetite (1.1-1.3 billion tonnes at 30-40% Fe ‘exploration target’) have the added potential to add 
impetus to the development of these rail and port facilities. 
 
A due diligence study is presently underway.  If the agreement is formalised thereafter, then a 
comprehensive first phase of RC drilling will investigate the magnetite (and also DSO hematite) 
potential over the extent of the tenements. 
 
 
 
Competent Person’s Statement: 
 
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves 
is based on information compiled by Stephen Shelton who is a member of The Australasian Institute of 
Geoscientists and a full time employee of Legacy Iron Ore Ltd..  Mr. Shelton has sufficient experience 
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the 
activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
“Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves“.  Mr. 
Shelton consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and 
the context in which it appears 
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Your Directors present their report on Legacy Iron Ore Limited (“Legacy”) or (the “Company”) for the 
year ended 30 June 2010. 
 
1. DIRECTORS 
 
The names of Directors in office during the whole of the year and up to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated: 
 
Mr Timothy Paul Turner (Non Executive Chairman) 
Ms Sharon Kia Le Heng (Executive Director/CEO) 
Mr Hunt Tao Han (Non Executive Director) 
 
2. COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Mr Ivan Wu held the position of Company Secretary during the whole of the year and up to the date of 
this report. 
 
3. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were exploration and evaluation of the 
Company’s iron ore and gold ground holdings. 
 
4. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
Corporate 
 
• On 15 September 2009, the Company entered into a Farm Out arrangement with AusQuest 

Limited over tenements E80/3923 and a portion of E80/3897.  The farm out agreement allows 
AusQuest to earn an 80% interest in both E80/3923 and a designated area of E80/3897 for total 
expenditure of $400,000.  The agreement includes an expenditure commitment by AusQuest of 
$100,000 within the first two years of the agreement.  Following completion of the $400,000 
expenditure, Legacy has the right to form a participating 80:20 joint venture or convert to a 10% 
free carried interest until a decision to mine is made, at which time a 90:10 participating joint 
venture will be formed or Legacy may elect to sell its equity. 
 

• On 23 September 2009, 925,000 shares were issued at a deemed issued price of $0.09 to Mr 
George J Petersons as deferred consideration for the acquisition of tenements pursuant to the Mt 
Celia gold exploration tenement package. 
 

• The Company appointed Mr Steve Shelton as Exploration Manager.  Mr Shelton is a geologist 
with 30 years experience in minerals exploration and mining, both in Australia and overseas.  He 
has successfully explored for a range of commodities including gold, base metals, manganese, 
nickel and uranium and was instrumental in the discovery of two substantial gold mines in Western 
Australia.  He has held senior positions in both major and junior mining companies, managing 
exploration from grassroots to reserve definition/feasibility study. 

 
  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 33 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
Corporate (Continued) 
 
• On 9 October 2009, the Company completed a fully underwritten non-renounceable rights issue 

(Rights Issue).  Shareholders were offered one (1) new share for every two (2) shares held at the 
issue price of 4.5 cents per new share.  Total cash raised before issue and underwriting costs 
totalled $1,995,356.  The funds raised will be used to continue exploration activity at the 
Hamersley and Robertson Range iron ore projects, and fund new drilling programs for the South 
Laverton gold project. The funds will also be used for working capital and to enable the 
Company’s continuing review of new opportunities. 
 

• Following the Rights Issue, and in compliance with ASX Listing Rule 3.11.2 and 6.22.2, the 
exercise price of the Company's options has changed as follows, with effect from Wednesday 14 
October 2009: 

 

Number Class 

Current 
Exercise 

Price 
New 

Exercise Price 

12,975,572 Quoted options exercisable on 7 January 
2012 $0.25 $0.2229 

26,180,000 Unlisted options exercisable on 7 
January 2012 $0.25 $0.2229 

28,000,000 Unlisted piggyback options expiring on or 
before 7 January 2013* $0.25 $0.2229 

* In the event that a piggyback option is exercised the holder will be issued a second option.  
The second option exercise price will also be reduced to $0.2229, exercisable on or before 7 
January 2014. 

 
• On 2 December 2009, the Company issued 20,909,093 shares to sophisticated investors at 11 

cents per share, raising a total of $2,299,993.  Approval of this issue was made by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, held on 30 November 2009.  This provided Legacy 
with sufficient cash resources to fund extensive drilling programs to be held over the next twelve 
months. 
 

• On 31 March 2010, 1,000,000 shares were issued following the exercise of 1,000,000 options with 
an exercise price of $0.10 expiring on 31 December 2012.  The Company raised cash funds of 
$100,000 from the exercise of these options. 

 
• On 1 April 2010, following the approval by shareholders at the general meeting held on that date, 

the Company issued 6,030,000 options with exercise price of 25 cents expiring on 1 April 2015 to 
directors and employees as consideration to salary increment for the 2009 performance review.   
1,000,000 options with exercise price of 10 cents expiring on 31 December 2012 were issued to 
an employee pursuant to the contract of employment. 

 

• On 8 April 2010, the Company issued 6,000,000 options with exercise price of $0.22 expiring on 7 
January 2012, to DJ Carmichael as consideration for various corporate services provided to the 
Company.  This was approved by shareholders at the general meeting held on 1 April 2010. 
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Corporate (Continued) 

 

• On 18 January 2010 the Company requested suspension from official quotation of 13,954,547 
LCYOA options listed on 7 December 2009 exercisable at 15 cents each and expiring on 31 
December 2012, pending clarification of a legal issue with respect to the options. On 31 May 2010 
the Company obtained orders from the Federal Court declaring, in effect, any offer for sale or sale 
of 13,954,547 LCYOA options listed on 7 December 2009 exercisable at 15 cents each and 
expiring on 31 December 2012 is not invalid in circumstances where the requirements of s708A of 
the Corporations Act were not satisfied.  The Company also obtained an order that any seller of 
options be relieved from any civil liability arising out of a contravention of ss707(3) and 727(1) or 
by reason of the failure to satisfy s708A and/or 727(1) of the Act. The suspension of trading these 
options was lifted on 1 June 2010. 

 
5. OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The Company incurred a loss after income tax of $4,494,115 for the year (2009: Loss of $3,866,629). 
The Company has cash funds on hand of $2,624,732 at 30 June 2010 (30 June 2009: $1,215,706).   
 
6. DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 
 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared 
by way of a dividend to the date of this report. 
 
7. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Other than the matters outlined in Section 4 above, no significant changes in the Company’s state of 
affairs occurred during the financial year. 
 
8. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS 
 
Effective 7 July 2010, the Company extended the employment contract with Ms Sharon Heng (Chief 
Executive Officer).  She shall continue to be paid $200,000 pa plus statutory superannuation for a 
further four months term. 
 
The Company has signed a letter of offer with Hawthorn Resources Limited to enter into a joint 
venture arrangement to farm into Hawthorn’s Mt Bevan Iron Ore project. The Company would be 
required to meet a minimum spend of $3,500,000 on or before 31 December 2012 to acquire a 60% 
interest in the project.  Further within 14 days of Legacy executing the agreement, Legacy has 
committed to participate in a placement of 250,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares in Hawthorn at an 
issue price of $0.006 each per share.  This offer is still subject to the completion of due diligence, 
shareholder and regulatory approval and therefore subject to change. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2010 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect: 
 
(a) the Company’s operations in the future financial years; or 
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or 
(c) the Company’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
 
9. FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 
 
The entity will continue its mineral exploration activity at and around its exploration projects with the 
object of identifying commercial resources. 
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10. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
 
The entity is aware of its environmental obligations with regards to its exploration activities and 
ensures that it complies with all regulations when carrying out any exploration work. 
 
11. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Sharon Heng Executive Director/CEO 

 
Qualifications B.A. (Pol Sc), MBA 

 
Experience 
 

Ms Heng has a background in commodities trading, international business 
development and strategic alliance planning.  She has over 14 years 
experience in international business consultancy, joint venture negotiations, 
resource funding and capital raising. Ms Heng has extensive experience in 
China, dealing with government and private sectors, within the oil and gas, 
energy, infrastructure and mining industries. 
 

Other Directorships 
 

Ms Heng has not held a directorship in any other listed company in the last 
3 years. 
 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 51,547,603 
22 cents, 7 January 2012 Options 22,509,836 
22 cents, 7 January 2013 Options 22,000,000 
Performance Shares – None vested 28,000,000 
25 cents, 1 April 2015 Employee Options 1,800,000 
 

Timothy Paul Turner Non-Executive Chairman 
 

Qualifications B.Bus, FCPA, FTIA, Registered Company Auditor 
 

Experience Mr Turner specialises in business structuring, corporate and trust tax 
planning and has in excess of 22 years experience in new ventures and 
capital raising. 
 
As the senior partner of the accounting firm Hewitt, Turner & Gelevitis he 
specialises in all areas of business consultancy, strategic planning and is 
responsible for the issuing of audit opinions.   
 
Mr Turner has a Bachelor of Business (Accounting and Business 
Administration), is a Registered Company Auditor, a Fellow of CPA 
(Australia) and a Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Australia.  
 

Other Directorships Mr Turner is also a Director of Cape Lambert Resources Limited (appointed 
16 September 2004), International Petroleum Limited (appointed 31 
January 2006) and African Petroleum Corporation Limited (appointed 16 
May 2007). 
 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 750,000 
22 cents, 7 January 2012 Options 100,000 
22 cents, 7 January 2013 Options 100,000 
25 cents, 1 April 2015 Employee Options 500,000 
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11. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY (CONTINUED) 
 
Hunt Tao Han Non-Executive Director 

 
Qualifications Tertiary qualification in Commerce 

 
Experience Mr Han has over 17 years experience in Foreign trade and investments as 

a Diplomat for China’s Export Base Development Corporation.  He is the 
former Vice General Manager of China’s Ministry of Foreign Trade and 
Economic Corporation and has an extensive network of corporate clients 
and governmental contacts all over the world. 
 

Other Directorships Mr Han has not held a directorship in any other listed company in the last 3 
years. 
 

Interest in Shares and 
Options 

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 5,800,000 
22 cents, 7 January 2012 Options 50,000 
22 cents, 7 January 2013 Options 50,000 
25 cents, 1 April 2015 Employee Options 500,000 

 
 
Ivan Wu Company Secretary 

 
Qualifications BSc (Comp Sc), MAICD 

 
Experience Mr Wu is a graduate from Curtin University and has more than 16 years 

commercial experience in the utility and IT industries, primarily in a 
corporate role as a developer of business and systems. He has been 
particularly active in the areas of business optimisation, cost efficiency and 
business process improvements. He is one of the key members involved in 
the Company’s initial public offering and listing on the ASX.   

 
12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 
 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel of Legacy 
Iron Ore Limited. 
 
Details of Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
(i) Directors 
 Ms Sharon Kia Le Heng 
 Mr Hunt Tao Han 
 Mr Timothy Paul Turner 
 
(ii) Other Key Management Personnel 
 Mr Ivan Wu – Company Secretary and General Manager  
 Mr Steve Shelton – Exploration Manager (appointed 19 October 2009) 
 
Remuneration Policy 
 
The Board considers that the Company is not of a size to justify the formation of a remuneration or 
nomination committee. The Board is able to address these aspects of the Company’s activities and 
will adhere with the appropriate ethical standards and with the remuneration and nomination 
procedures. 
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12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (CONTINUED) 
 
The Board will review the remuneration policies and packages of all Directors and Senior Executive 
officers on at least an annual basis. The Board will also periodically review the composition of the 
Board and make necessary changes to ensure that it comprises persons who have the skill and 
experience appropriate for the business activities and operations undertaken by the Company. 
 
Remuneration levels for Executives are competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced 
candidates, taking into account prevailing market conditions and individual’s experience and 
qualifications. 
 
Each of the Non-Executive Directors receives a fixed fee for their services as Directors. There is no 
direct link between remuneration paid to the Non-Executive Directors and corporate performance such 
as bonus payments for achievement of certain key performance indicators. 
 
There are no retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors. 
 
The members of the Board were issued shares and options as part of the terms of the initial public 
offer. All remuneration paid to Directors is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed evenly 
over the estimated vesting period. Options are valued using the Binomial options pricing methodology. 
 
Company Performance and Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration 
 
Options were issued to the Directors and Exploration Manager to increase goal congruence between 
shareholders and key management personnel. 
 
Given the nature and stage of the Company’s operation being exploration and evaluation activities, the 
Board does not believe historical performance is the most appropriate basis to compensate key 
management personnel. 
 
Performance Shares and Options 
 
To provide further goal congruence between shareholders and key management personnel: 
 
(a) The Executive Director, in the year ended 30 June 2008 was issued 28,000,000 performance 

shares. These are convertible to fully paid ordinary shares on the occurrence of either 10,000 
metres of exploration drilling or a twenty (20) day volume weighted average closing price of the 
underlying shares of $0.70. At 30 June 2010 the Directors have estimated the 10,000 metres 
drilling target will be achieved by 31 December 2010 (30 June 2009: 31 August 2010). 

 
(b) During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Exploration Manager was issued 1,000,000 $0.10 

options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 and offered the following additional 
incentive options: 

 
(i) 1,000,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 upon the share 

price of the Company remaining at or above $0.40 per share for 30 consecutive trading 
days; 

(ii) 1,000,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 upon the share 
price of the Company remaining at or above $0.70 per share for 30 consecutive trading 
days; 

(iii) 500,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 upon publication of a 
JORC compliant resource of at least 500,000 ounces of gold; and 

(iv) 500,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 upon publication of a 
JORC compliant resource of at least 50 million tonnes of iron ore. 

 
(c) During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Directors, in aggregate, were issued with 2,800,000 

$0.25 options exercisable on or before 1 April 2015. 
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12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (CONTINUED) 
 
(d) During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company Secretary was issued with 1,600,000 $0.25 

options exercisable on or before 1 April 2015. 
 
The Company has no other policy for other short term or long term incentive bonuses or other 
benefits. 
 
Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 
The remuneration for key management personnel of the entity during the year was as follows: 
 

30 June 2010 Short Term 
Benefits Share-Based Payments 
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 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 
Sharon Heng 209,615 - - 225,900 582,290 18,865 1,036,670 78% 
Hunt Tao Han - - - 62,750 - - 62,750 100% 
Timothy Turner 68,400 - - 62,750 - - 131,150 48% 
Ivan Wu 147,469 17,744 - 200,800 - 13,272 379,285 53% 
Steve Shelton 133,928 - - 81,724 - 12,054 227,706 36% 
Total 559,412 17,744 - 633,924 582,290 44,191 1,837,561  
 
(i) The non-cash benefit relates to the use of a motor vehicle. 
 

30 June 2009 Short Term 
Benefits Share-Based Payments 
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Benefits 
  

Na
m

e 

Sa
lar

y, 
Fe

es
 an

d 
Co

m
m

iss
io

ns
 

No
n-

Ca
sh

 B
en

ef
its

 
(i)

 

Sh
ar

es
 

Op
tio

ns
 

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 

Sh
ar

es
 

Su
pe

ra
nn

ua
tio

n 
Co

nt
rib

ut
io

n 

To
ta

l 

Va
lu

e o
f o

pt
io

ns
/ 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 

sh
ar

es
 as

 a 
pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 

re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 
Sharon Heng 242,527 - - - 1,098,462 21,828 1,362,817 80 
Hunt Tao Han - - - - - - - - 
Timothy Turner 61,768 - - - - - 61,768 - 
Ivan Wu 140,243 12,883 - - - 12,621 165,747 - 
Daniel Baldwin 98,572 - - 82,435 - 8,280 189,287 43 
Sam Huang  - - - - - - - - 
Total 543,110 12,883 - 82,435 1,098,462 42,729 1,779,619  
 
(i) The non-cash benefit relates to the use of a motor vehicle. 
 
SHARE BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Options Issued as Part of Remuneration for the Year Ended 30 June 2010 
 
The following ordinary shares, options and performance shares were granted to key management 
personnel and their personally related entities. Shares and options were granted for nil consideration. 
Options and performance shares carry no dividend or voting rights.  No options issued to key 
management personnel were exercised during the year ended 30 June 2010. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (CONTINUED) 
 
SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) 
 

30 June 2010 10 cent  25 cent Options Total Fair  

Name 
Options 

No. 
Options 

No. 
Tranche I  

No. 
Tranche J 

No. 
Tranche K 

No. 
Tranche L 

No. 
Value 

$ 
Sharon Heng - 1,800,000 - - - - 225,900 
Timothy Turner - 500,000 - - - - 62,750 
Hunt Tao Han - 500,000 - - - - 62,750 
Ivan Wu - 1,600,000 - - - - 200,800 
Steve Shelton 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000 81,724 
Total 1,000,000 4,400,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000 633,924 
 
• 1,000,000 $0.10 options vest on the expiry of the three month probation period; 
• 4,400,000 $0.25 options vest immediately; 
• Tranche I 1,000,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 will vest upon 

the share price of the Company remaining at or above $0.40 per share for 30 consecutive 
trading days; 

• Tranche J 1,000,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 will vest upon 
the share price of the Company remaining at or above $0.70 per share for 30 consecutive 
trading days; 

• Tranche K 500,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 will vest upon 
publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 500,000 ounces of gold; and 

• Tranche L 500,000 $0.30 options exercisable on or before 31 December 2012 will vest upon 
publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 50 million tonnes of iron ore. 
 

The following assumptions were used in determining the fair value of the options on grant date: 
 
Valuation 
Assumption 

10 cent Options 25 cent Options Tranche I Options Tranche J Options Tranche K Options Tranche L Options 

Underlying security 
value 

$0.053 $0.135 $0.053 $0.053 $0.053 $0.053 

Grant date 12 October 09 1 April 10  12 October 09 12 October 09 12 October 09 12 October 09 
Vesting period 3 months Immediately 

 
11 months 
(estimate) 

23 months 
(estimate) 

14 months 
(estimate) 

14 months 
(estimate) 

Exercise price $0.10 $0.25 $0.30 $0.30 $0.30 $0.30 
Expected dividend 
yield 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Risk free rate 5% 5.48% 5% 5% 5% 5% 
Volatility 175% 175% 175% 175% 175% 175% 
Probability of 
vesting 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 5% 1% 

Expiry date 31 December 12 1 April 15 31 December 12 31 December 12 31 December 12 31 December 12 
Fair value per 
security 

$0.0527 $0.1255 $0.0026 $0.0005 $0.0526 $0.0526 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (CONTINUED) 
 
SHARE BASED COMPENSATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Options Issued as Part of Remuneration for the Year Ended 30 June 2009 
 
The following ordinary shares, options and performance shares were granted to key management 
personnel and their personally related entities. Shares and options were granted for nil consideration. 
Options and performance shares carry no dividend or voting rights. 
 

30 June 2009 Ordinary  Options Total Fair  

Name 
Shares 

No. 
Tranche E 

No. 
Tranche F 

No. 
Tranche G 

No. 
Tranche H 

No. 
Value 

$ 
Daniel Baldwin - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 82,435 
Total - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,500,000 82,435 
 
• Tranche E 1,000,000 $0.25 options vest immediately; 
• Tranche F 1,000,000 $0.25 options will vest upon the Company completing at least 10,000 

metres of RC, RAB or diamond drilling; 
• Tranche G 1,000,000 $0.40 options will vest upon the share price of the Company attaining a 

20 day volume weighted average price of $0.70 or greater; and 
• Tranche H 1,500,000 $0.60 options will vest upon the share price of the Company attaining a 20 

day volume weighted average closing price of $1.00 or greater. 
 
The following assumptions were used in determining the fair value of the options and performance 
shares on grant date: 
 
Valuation Assumption Tranche E Tranche F Tranche G Tranche H 
Underlying security value $0.14 $0.14 $0.14 $0.14 
Grant date 1 December 08 1 December 08 1 December 08 1 December 08 
Vesting period 3 months 21 months 

(estimate) 
31 months 
(estimate) 

38 months 
(estimate) 

Exercise price $0.25 $0.25 $0.40 $0.60 
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Risk free rate 3.25% 3.25% 3.25% 3.25% 
Volatility 83.57% 83.57% 83.57% 83.57% 
Probability of vesting N/A N/A 20% 10% 
Expiry date 7 January 12 7 January 12 7 January 12 7 January 12 
Fair value per security $0.0596 $0.0596 $0.00896 $0.00333 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (CONTINUED) 
 
SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
Executive Director 
The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with Ms Sharon Heng to provide the services 
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  The Company paid Ms Heng a fee of $180,000 pa 
commencing 1 October 2007. Upon listing the Board resolved to increase her salary to $272,500 pa. 
Effective 1 May 2009, as part of a cost cutting initiative, her fee was reduced to $218,000 pa. The 
agreement terminates on 7 July 2010.  This agreement was extended for a further 4 months term.  
Refer to Note 21(b) of the Financial Statements.  Payment of a termination benefit on early termination 
by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equals the base salary for the remaining term of the 
agreement. 
 
On 25 June 2010 the Company extended its contract with Zen Resources Pty Ltd, a Company 
formerly related to Ms Sharon Heng and Mr Ivan Wu, for the provision of operation and administrative 
services.  The fee has increased by 4.1% (CPI + 2%) as per clause 6.2(c) of the operation services 
agreement. Total contract value is $305,424 and a 15% fee on any external corporate service 
expenses paid by Zen on the behalf of Legacy. Amounts owing are payable within 10 days of invoice 
for the duration of the contract.  Amount paid/payable for the year ended 30 June 2010 is $312,915 
(30 June 2009: $369,072).  Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company, 
other than for gross misconduct, equals any amounts which would be owing for the remaining term of 
the agreement. 
 
On 26 May 2010 Ms Heng sold her interest in Zen Resources Pty Ltd, accordingly transactions 
between the Company and Zen Resources Pty Ltd are no longer related to Ms Heng. 
 
Non-Executive Chairman 
On 8 July 2008 the Company entered into a fixed term, 3 year consultancy agreement with an entity 
related to Director, Mr Timothy Turner. Total contract value was $144,000 ($4,000 per month).  Upon 
being appointed Chairman on October 2008 this fee increased to $6,000 per month. Effective 1 May 
2009, as part of a cost cutting initiative, his fee was reduced to $5,400 per month and reverted to 
$6,000 per month effective 1 January 2010. Amount paid/payable for the year ended 30 June 2010 is 
$68,400 (30 June 2009: $61,768).  The agreement terminates on 8 July 2011.  Payment of a 
termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for a breach of the terms of the 
agreement, equals the base salary for the remaining term of the agreement. 
 
General Manager 
Effective 1 July 2008 the Company entered into an employment contract with Mr Ivan Wu to provide 
the services of General Manager of the Company. His initial salary was $98,100 pa. Effective 15 
August 2008 his role was extended to include Corporate Services and his salary increased to 
$152,600 pa.  Effective 1 January 2009 he received a salary increase to bring his total salary to 
$163,500 pa.  Effective 1 May 2009, as part of a cost cutting initiative, his total salary package was 
reduced to $147,150 pa. Effective 1 January 2010 his salary package increased to $163,500 pa. The 
contract expires with one month’s notice. On termination he is entitled to unpaid salary until the date of 
termination and one month’s salary in lieu of notice. Mr Wu is also entitled to the use of a motor 
vehicle. 
 
Exploration Manager 
Effective 12 October 2009 the Company entered into an employment contract with Mr Steve Shelton 
to provide the services of Exploration Manager of the Company.  His base salary was $180,000 pa 
plus superannuation.  The contract expired with one month’s notice.  On termination he is entitled to 
any unpaid salary until the date of termination. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
13. MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
 
The number of Directors' meetings (including committees) held during the year each Director held 
office during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each Director are: 
 
Directors’ Meetings 
Director Number Eligible to Attend  Meetings Attended 
Sharon Heng 4 4 
Hunt Tao Han 4 - 
Timothy Turner 4 4 
 
Given the limited size of the Company there are no separate subcommittees or audit committee. 
 
14. INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR 
 
In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001 every 
Director, Principal Executive Officer or Secretary of the Company shall be indemnified out of the 
property of the Company against any liability incurred by him/her in his/her capacity as Director, 
Principal Executive Officer or Secretary of the Company or any related corporation in respect of any 
act or omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or 
criminal. During the year the Company paid a premium to insure the Directors and secretary of the 
Company. The terms of the contract of insurance prohibit disclosure of the premium paid and nature of 
liabilities covered. 
 
15. OPTIONS 
 
Unissued Shares under Option 
 
At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are: 
 

Expiry Date Exercise Price Number Under Option 
31 December 2012 $0.10 14,000,000 
8 July 2013 (Performance shares) $0.00001 28,000,000 
7 January 2012 $0.22 17,155,572 
7 January 2012 (Tranche A) $0.22 28,000,000 
7 January 2013 (Tranche B) (i) $0.22 28,000,000 
7 January 2014 (Tranche C) (ii) $0.22 28,000,000 
31 December 2012 (Tranche D) $0.10 1,000,000 
31 December 2012 (iii) $0.30 3,000,000 
31 December 2012 $0.15 13,955,047 
1 April 2015 $0.25 6,030,000 
 
(i) Tranche B options are only exercisable once Tranche A are exercised. 
(ii) Tranche C options are only issued once Tranche B options are exercised. 
(iii) Options are only issued once vesting conditions are met. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2010, no amounts are unpaid on any of the shares. No option holder 
has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any other 
entity. 
 
16. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene 
in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf 
of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
17. AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010 has been received and can 
be found on page 43 of the annual report. 
 
18. NON AUDIT SERVICES 
 
During the year, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd did not provide any non-audit services to the Company. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sharon Heng 
Director 
Perth 
20 September 2010 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
OF LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 

 Note 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
    
Finance income 
 

3 101,836 125,515 

Compliance and regulatory expenses  (79,953) (99,567) 
Depreciation and amortisation 11 (65,404) (47,269) 
Key management personnel remuneration 7 (187,144) (327,141) 
Employee benefit expense  (121,270) (215,069) 
Exploration expenditure expensed 12 (14,510) (150,833) 
Exploration tenements written off  (852,295) (1,453,452) 
Administration expenses  (912,618) (524,631) 
Finance expense 3 (12,933) (16,120) 
Share-based payments 24 (2,349,824) (1,158,062) 
    
Loss before income tax 4 (4,494,115) (3,866,629) 
 
Income tax benefit 
 

 
5 

 
- 

 
- 

Loss for the Year  (4,494,115) (3,866,629) 
    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  - - 
    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE    
YEAR  (4,494,115) (3,866,629) 
    
    
Basic and diluted (loss) per share 6 (3.36) cents (4.45) cents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 

 Note 
30 June 2010 

$ 
30 June 2009 

$ 
    
Assets    
Current Assets    
Cash and Cash Equivalents 9 2,624,732 1,215,706 
Other Receivables 10 77,996 40,148 
Total Current Assets  2,702,728 1,255,854 
    
Non Current Assets    
Plant and Equipment 11 119,852 175,640 
Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 12 9,866,119 9,808,662 
Total Non Current Assets  9,985,971 9,984,302 
Total Assets  12,688,699 11,240,156 
    
Liabilities    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and Other Payables 13 116,242 650,113 
Employee Benefits 14 47,492 22,827 
Borrowings 15 34,608 31,424 
Total Current Liabilities  198,342 704,364 
    
Non Current Liabilities    
Borrowings 15 66,590 101,198 
Total Non Current Liabilities  66,590 101,198 
    
Total Liabilities  264,932 805,562 
Net Assets  12,423,767 10,434,594 
    
Equity    
Issued Capital 16 16,157,790 13,517,062 
Reserves 17 10,868,595 7,026,035 
Accumulated Losses  (14,602,618) (10,108,503) 
Total Equity  12,423,767 10,434,594 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 

 Note 
Ordinary Share 

Capital 
Share Based 

Payment Reserve 

Option 
Premium 
Reserve 

Accumulated 
Losses Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 30 June 2008  13,378,734 5,777,434 - (6,241,874) 12,914,294 
 
Loss attributable to members of 
the Company  - - - (3,866,629) (3,866,629) 
 
Total other comprehensive income 
for the year  - - - - - 
 
Shares issued during the year 16 295,000 - - - 295,000 
 
Options issued during the year 17 - - 101,556 - 101,556 
 
Transaction costs relating to 
shares/options issued 16 (156,672) - (11,017) - (167,689) 
 
Recognition as remuneration of 
options and performance shares 
issued 17 - 1,158,062 - - 1,158,062 
 
Balance at 30 June 2009  13,517,062 6,935,496 90,539 (10,108,503) 10,434,594 
       
 
Loss attributable to members of 
the Company  - - - (4,494,115) (4,494,115) 
 
Total other comprehensive income 
for the year  - - - - - 
 
Shares issued during the year 16 4,489,709 - - - 4,489,709 
 
Options issued during the year  - - - - - 
 
Transaction costs relating to 
shares/options issued 16 (1,848,981) - - - (1,848,981) 
 
Recognition as remuneration of 
options and performance shares 
issued 17 - 3,842,560 - - 3,842,560 
 
Balance at 30 June 2010  16,157,790 10,778,056 90,539 (14,602,618) 12,423,767 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 

 Note 
30 June 2010 

$ 
30 June 2009 

$ 
    
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Payment to suppliers and employees  (1,301,027) (1,558,285) 
Interest received  85,762 133,311 
Interest paid  (11,487) (14,226) 
    
Net cash flows (used in) operating activities 23 (1,226,752) (1,439,200) 
    
Cash flows from Investing Activities    
Payments for purchase of fixed assets  (9,617) (74,443) 
Payments for exploration and evaluation  (1,373,395) (888,399) 
    
Net cash flows (used in) investing activities  (1,383,012) (962,842) 
    
Cash Flows from Financing Activities    
Repayment of borrowings  (31,424) (26,240) 
Proceeds from issue of options  - 101,556 
Proceeds from issue of shares  4,295,459 - 
Payments for costs of capital raising  (345,245) (613,301) 
Proceeds from exercise of options  100,000 - 
    
Net cash flows (used in) /  from financing activities  

 
 

4,018,790 
 

(537,985) 
    
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 
 

1,409,026 
 

(2,940,027) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of Year  

 
 

1,215,706 
 

4,155,733 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of Year 9 2,624,732 1,215,706 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

 
 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
This financial report includes the financial statements and notes of Legacy Iron Ore Limited as an 
individual entity (the ‘Company’ or ‘entity’). The Company is domiciled in Australia and the address of 
the registered office is Suite 32, 23 Plain Street, East Perth WA 6004.  The Company is primarily 
involved in mineral exploration. 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs), (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) adopted 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
The financial report of the Company comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB.) 
 
The financial report was approved by the Board of Directors on 20 September 2010. 
 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs, except 
for share-based payments measured at fair value. 
 
Financial Position 
 
The 30 June 2010 financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis that contemplates 
the continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and extinguishment of 
liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  For the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company 
recorded a loss of $4,494,115 and had a net working capital surplus of $2,504,386.  The loss for the 
period is consistent with the stage of operations of the Company, being the exploration and evaluation 
of mineral resources. 
 
The Directors’ 15 month cash flow forecast for the Company anticipates a cash flow surplus sufficient 
to settle liabilities in the normal course of business, which includes exploration and evaluation 
activities. 
 
Based upon the Directors’ cash flow forecast, the Directors consider there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable and 
therefore the going concern basis of preparation remains appropriate. 
 
(a) Income Tax 
 
The income tax expense/(revenue) for the year comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted 
or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.  Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet 
method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
 
Temporary differences are not provided for where the initial recognition of assets and liabilities affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using tax rates 
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Income Tax (Continued) 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
(b) Plant and Equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis. The carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from these 
assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be 
received from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have 
been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
The cost of plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income during 
the financial year in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including capitalised leased assets, is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their useful lives to the Company commencing from the time the asset is held 
ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets for 2009 are as follows: 
 
Motor Vehicles 25% 
Computers and Software 67% 
Furniture and fittings  4-20% 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
(c) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 
Mineral tenements are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses.  Mineral exploration and 
evaluation is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  These costs are only carried 
forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the 
area of interest or sale of that area of interest, or exploration and evaluation activities have not 
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 
economically recoverable reserves and active or significant operations on or in relation to, the area of 
interest are continuing. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area of interest are written off in full against profit in 
the year in which the decision to abandon that area is made.  A regular review is undertaken of each 
area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that 
area of interest. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(d) Leases 
 
Finance Leases 
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the 
asset, but not the legal ownership that are transferred to the Company are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts 
equal to the fair value of the leased assets or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the 
lease liability and the lease interest expense for the year. 
 
Operating Leases 
Payment made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease 
expense over the term of the lease. 
 
(e) Financial Instruments 
 
Initial Recognition and Measurement 
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Trade date accounting is 
adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes established by market place 
convention. 
 
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument 
is not classified as at fair value through the profit and loss.  Transaction costs related to instruments 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately.  Financial 
instruments are classified and measured as set out below. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement 
 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. The fair value of trade and other receivables, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes,  is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the reporting date. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  The fair value, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 
 
Fair value 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 
are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to similar instruments and options pricing models. 
 
Impairment 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
instrument has been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(e) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the 
carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of 
consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
the profit or loss. 
 
(f) Impairment of Non Financial Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
(g) Employee Benefits 
 
Provision is made for the Company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to balance date.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have 
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  Employee benefits 
payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits.  Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 
 
Defined Contribution Plans 
A defined contribution plan is a post employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in 
profit and loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that 
a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 
 
Equity-Settled Compensation 
The Company operates equity-settled share-based payment share and option schemes to Directors 
and employees.  The fair value of the equity to which Directors and employees become entitled is 
measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding 
increase to an equity account.  The fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price.  The 
fair value of options is ascertained using a Binomial or Black and Scholes pricing model which 
incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of shares and options expected to vest is 
reviewed and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for services received 
as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity 
instruments that eventually vest. 
 
(h)  Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
(i)  Earnings per Share 
 
The Company presents basis and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  Diluted EPS is 
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, 
which comprise share options and performance shares. 
 
(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
over overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of 
Financial Position. 
 
(k) Share-Based Payments 
 
The fair value determined at grant date of equity settled share-based payments is treated as the cost 
of assets acquired or expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
company’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.  Vesting is not conditional upon a market 
condition.  No asset or expense is recognised for share based payments that do not vest.  For cash 
settled share-based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received is 
recognised at the current fair value determined at each reporting date. 
 
(l)  Share Capital and Transaction Costs 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction net of any tax effects. 
 
(m) Revenue Recognition 
 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate financial 
assets is the rate inherent in the instrument.  
 
(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.  The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the ATO is included as a current asset or liability. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
(o) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods 
affected.  
 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the 
financial statements are described in the following notes: 
 
• Note 12 Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
• Note 24 Measurement of Share-Based Payments. 
 
(p) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards 
 
During the current year the Company adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations applicable to its operations which became mandatory. 
 
The adoption of these standards has impacted the recognition, measurement and disclosure of certain 
transactions. The following is an explanation of the impact the adoption of these standards and 
interpretations has had on the financial statements of Legacy Iron Ore Limited. 
 
AASB 3: Business Combinations - no impact on the Company. 
 
AASB 8: Operating Segments 
 
In February 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board issued AASB 8 which replaced AASB 
114: Segment Reporting. Below is an overview of the key changes and the impact on the Company's 
financial statements: 
 
Measurement impact 
 
Identification and measurement of segments - AASB 8 requires the 'management approach' to the 
identification measurement and disclosure of operating segments. The 'management approach' 
requires that operating segments be identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly 
reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources and 
assessing performance. Under AASB 114, segments were identified by geographical areas, and only 
segments deriving revenue from external sources were considered. 
 
The adoption of the 'management approach' to segment reporting has resulted in the identification of 
additional reportable segments. Refer to Note 19 for details of segment reporting. 
 
Under AASB 8, operating segments are determined based on management reports using the 
'management approach' whereas under AASB 114 financial results of such segments were 
recognised and measured in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. This has resulted in 
changes to the presentation of segment results, with inter-segment sales and expenses such as 
depreciation and impairment now being reported for each segment rather than in aggregate for total 
operations, as this is how they are reviewed by the chief operating decision maker. 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
(p) Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards (Continued) 
 
Disclosure impact 
 
AASB 8 requires a number of additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures, not previously 
required under AASB 114, where such information is utilised by the chief operating decision maker. 
This information is now disclosed as part of the financial statements. 
 
AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
In September 2007 the Australian Accounting Standards Board revised AASB 101 and as a result, 
there has been changed to the presentation and disclosure of certain information within the financial 
statements. Below is an overview of the key changes and the impact on the Company's financial 
statements. 
 
Disclosure impact 
 
Terminology changes - The revised version of AASB 101 contains a number of terminology changes, 
including the amendment of the primary financial statements. 
 
Reporting changes in equity - The revised version of AASB 101 requires all changes in equity arising 
from transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners, to be presented separately from non-owner 
changes in equity. Owner changes in equity are to be presented in the statement of changes in equity 
with non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of comprehensive income. The previous 
version of AASB 101 required that owner changes in equity and other comprehensive income be 
presented in the statement of changes in equity. 
 
Statement of comprehensive income - The revised AASB 101 requires all income and expenses to be 
presented in either one statement, the statement of comprehensive income, or two statements, a 
separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The previous version of AASB 
101 required only the presentation of a single income statement. 
 
The Company's financial statements now contain a statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Other comprehensive income - The revised version of AASB 101 introduces the concept of 'other 
comprehensive income' which comprises of income and expenses that are not recognised in profit or 
loss as required by other Australian Accounting Standards. Items of other comprehensive income are 
to be disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income. Entities are required to disclose the 
income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income. The previous version of AASB 
101 did not contain an equivalent concept. 
 
(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods  
 
The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has decided against early 
adoption of these standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the 
Company follows: 
 
• AASB 9: Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12] (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

These standards are applicable retrospectively and amend the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The Company has not yet determined the potential impact 
on the financial statements. 

 
The changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 
• simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost 

and those carried at fair value; 
• simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 
• removing the tainting rules associated with-held-to-maturity assets; 
• removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for 

financial assets carried at amortised cost; 
• allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 

investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can 
be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of 
the instrument; and 

• reclassifying financial assets where there is a change in an entity's business model as 
they are initially classified based on: 

 
a. the objective of the entity's business model for managing the financial assets; and 
b. the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. 

 
• AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on 

or after 1 January 2011). 
 

This standard removes the requirement for government related entities to disclose details of all 
transactions with the government and other government related entities and clarifies the 
definition of a related party to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of the 
standard.  Since the entity is not a government related entity, there is not expected to be any 
change arising from this standard. 
 

• AASB 2009-5: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136 & 139] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 2010). 
 
These standards detail numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards 
arising from the IASB's annual improvements project. No changes are expected to materially 
affect the Company. 
 

• AASB 2009-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2010). 
 
These amendments clarify the accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment 
transactions in the separate or individual financial statements of the entity receiving the goods 
or services when the entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction. 
The amendments incorporate the requirements previously included in Interpretation 8 and 
Interpretation 11 and as a consequence, these two Interpretations are superseded by the 
amendments. These amendments are not expected to impact the Company.  
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
 

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

• AASB 2009-9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Additional Exemptions for 
First-time Adopters [AASB 1] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 
1 January 2010). 

 
These amendments specify requirements for entities using the full cost method in place of the 
retrospective application of Australian Accounting Standards for oil and gas assets, and 
exempt entities with existing leasing contracts from reassessing the classification of those 
contracts in accordance with Interpretation 4 when the application of their previous accounting 
policies would have given the same outcome.  As this is not the first year of adoption of IFRSs, 
these amendments will not have any impact on the entity’s financial report. 

 
• AASB 2009-10: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification of Rights 

Issues [AASB 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 
February 2010). 

 
These amendments clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of an 
entity's own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency are equity instruments if the 
entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro-rata to all existing owners of the same class of 
its own non-derivative equity instruments. These amendments are not expected to impact the 
Company.  

 
• AASB 2009-12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 

119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

 
This standard makes a number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes made to the text of 
International Financial Reporting Standards by the IASB. The standard also amends AASB 8 
to require entities to exercise judgment in assessing whether a government and entities known 
to be under the control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes 
of certain operating segment disclosures.  As the entity does not have a defined benefit plan, 
this amendment is not expected to have any impact. 

 
• AASB 2009-13: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 

19 [AASB 1] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010). 
 

This standard makes amendments to AASB 1 arising from the issue of Interpretation 19. The 
amendments allow a first-time adopter to apply the transitional provisions in Interpretation 19. 
As this is not the first year of adoption of IFRSs, these amendments will not have any impact 
on the entity’s financial report. 

 
• AASB 2009-14: Amendments to Australian Interpretation - Prepayments of a Minimum 

Funding Requirement [AASB Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2011). 

 
This standard amends Interpretation 14 to address unintended consequences that can arise 
from the previous accounting requirements when an entity prepays future contributions into a 
defined benefit pension plan.  As the entity does not have a defined benefit plan this 
amendment is not expected to have any impact. 
 

• AASB Interpretation 19: Extinguishing Financial liabilities with Equity Instruments (applicable 
for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010). 
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 
(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Continued) 
 

This Interpretation deals with how a debtor would account for the extinguishment of a liability 
through the issue of equity instruments. The Interpretation states that the issue of equity 
should be treated as the consideration paid to extinguish the liability, and the equity 
instruments issued should be recognised at their fair value unless fair value cannot be 
measured reliably in which case they shall be measured at the fair value of the liability 
extinguished. The Interpretation deals with situations where either partial or full settlement of 
the liability has occurred. This Interpretation is not expected to impact the Company. 
 

• AASB 2010-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project [AASB 3, AASB 7, AASB, 121, AASB 128, AASB 131, AASB 132 & 
AASB 139]. 
 
Limits the scope of the measurement choices of non-controlling interest at proportionate share 
of net assets in the event of liquidation. Other components of NCI are measured at fair value. 
 
Requires an entity (in a business combination) to account for the replacement of the 
acquiree’s share-based payment transactions (whether obliged or voluntarily), i.e split 
between consideration and post combination expenses. 
 
Clarifies that contingent consideration from a business combination that occurred before the 
effective date of AASB 3 Revised is not restated. 
 
Eliminates the requirement to restate financial statements for a reporting period when 
significant influence or joint control is lost and the reporting entity accounts for the remaining 
investment under AASB 139. This includes the effect on accumulated foreign exchange 
differences on such investments.  The effective date of this Standard will be 30 June 2011. 
 
The Company considers it unlikely that the impact will be significant.  
 

• AASB 2010-4: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Annual Improvements Project [AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 and Interpretation 13]. 
 
Emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative AASB 7 disclosures and the 
nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. 
 
Clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of other comprehensive income for each 
component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity of in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
Provides guidance to illustrate how to apply disclosures principals in AASB 134 for significant 
events and transactions. 
 
Clarify that when the fair value of award credits is measured based on the value of the awards 
for which they could be redeemed, the amount of discounts or incentives, otherwise granted to 
customers not participating in the award credit scheme, is to be taken in account. The 
effective date for this Standard will be 30 June 2011. 
 
The Company considers it unlikely that the impact will be significant.  
 

The Company does not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting 
Standards. 
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2. DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: NIL). 
 
 
3. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Interest income on bank deposits 101,836 125,515 
Interest expense (12,933) (16,120) 
Net finance income 88,903 109,395 
 
 
4. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 
 
Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses: 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Depreciation of non-current assets 65,404 47,269 
Exploration expenditure expensed 14,510 150,833 
Exploration tenements written off 852,295 1,453,452 
Key management personnel remuneration *(A) 187,144 327,141 
Management fees to Director related entity *(B) 312,915 351,299 
Operating lease rental expense 41,071 18,299 
 
*Refer to Note 7 for details of key management personnel remuneration. 
 
A. Costs of $416,459 (2009: $246,160) directly related to exploration efforts are recognised in 

exploration and evaluation expenditure. 
 
B. Costs of $ NIL (2009: $11,354) directly related to exploration efforts are recognised in 

exploration and evaluation expenditure and costs of $ NIL (2009: $6,419) directly related to 
plant and equipment are recognised in plant and equipment. 
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5. INCOME TAX  
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(a) The components of tax expense comprise:   
 Current tax - - 
 Deferred tax - - 
 - - 
(b) The prime facie tax on loss before income tax is reconciled to 

income tax benefit as follows: 
  

 Prima facie tax benefit on loss before income tax at 30%  
(1,348,234) (1,159,989) 

 Add / (Less) Tax effect of:   
  -  Non deductible share-based payments 704,947 347,418 

 -  Non deductible penalties - 4,110 
- Unrecognised deferred tax asset attributable to tax losses 643,287 808,461 

 Income Tax Attributable to the Company - - 
 
(c) Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

  

   
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the 

following: 
  

 
 Deferred Tax Liabilities 

  

 Prepayments 6,647 4,860 
 Exploration and evaluation expenditure 2,960,439 2,942,599 
 Interest receivable 5,018 948 
 Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 2,972,104 2,948,407 
   

Deferred Tax Assets   
Accrued expenses 5,928 12,231 
Provisions 14,248 6,848 
Leased assets 4,635 2,958 
Capital raising costs 589,336 148,922 
Tax losses recognised 2,357,957 2,777,448 
Total Deferred Tax Assets 2,972,104 2,948,407 
Net Tax Assets/Liabilities - - 

 
(d) Tax Losses 
 
At 30 June 2010 the Company has $15,760,548 (2009: $13,219,617) of tax losses that are available 
for offset against future taxable profits of the Company.  No deferred tax assets have been recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the amounts of these losses. 
 
The potential benefit of carried forward losses will only be obtained if assessable income is derived of 
a nature and, of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to the realised or the 
benefit can be utilised by the Company providing that: 
 

(i) the provisions of deductibility imposed by law are complied with; and 
(ii) no change in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the 

deductions. 
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6. LOSS PER SHARE 
 
 2010 2009 
(a) Basic and diluted loss per share (3.36) cents (4.45) cents 
(b) Loss used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share ($4,494,115) ($3,866,629) 
   
 No No 
(c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per 
share 133,815,556 86,906,131 

 
(d) Options and Performance Shares 
 
The options to subscribe to ordinary shares and performance shares have not been included in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti dilutive for the years ended 30 June 
2010 and 30 June 2009. These options and performance shares could potentially dilute basic earnings 
per share in the future. 
 
7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Name and positions of key management personnel at any time during the financial year are: 
 
Ms Sharon Heng Executive Director/CEO 
Mr Hunt Tao Han Non - Executive Director 
Mr Timothy Turner Non - Executive Chairman 
Mr Ivan Wu General Manager and Company Secretary 
Mr Steve Shelton Exploration Manager (appointed 19 October 2009) 
 
Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of 
the Directors’ Report. 
 
(b) Ordinary Shareholdings 
 
Number of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel: 
 

2010 

Balance at 
1 July 2009 

No 

Balance on 
appointment 

No 

Received as 
Compensation 

No 

Net Change  
Other * 

No 

Balance  
30 June 2010 

No 
Sharon Heng 53,547,603 - - (2,000,000) 51,547,603 
Hunt Tao Han 6,000,000 - - (200,000) 5,800,000 
Timothy Turner 500,000 - - 250,000 750,000 
Ivan Wu 1,170,000 - - (70,000) 1,100,000 
Steve Shelton - - - 310,000 310,000 
Total 61,217,603 - - (1,710,000) 59,507,603 
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7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 

2009 

Balance at 
1 July 2008  

No 

Balance on 
appointment  

No 

Received as 
Compensation  

No 

Net Change  
Other* 

No 

Balance  
30 June 2009  

No 
Sharon Heng 53,300,001 - - 247,602 53,547,603 
Hunt Tao Han 300,000 - - 5,700,000 6,000,000 
Timothy Turner 500,000 - - - 500,000 
Ivan Wu - 1,100,000 - 70,000 1,170,000 
Total 54,100,001 1,100,000 - 6,017,602 61,217,603 
 
* Net Change Other refers to shares purchased or sold during the financial year. 
 
(c) Option Holdings 
 
Numbers of options held by Key Management Personnel: 
 

2010 

Balance  
at 1 July 

No 

Balance on 
Appointment 

No 

Granted During 
the Year as 

Compensation 
No 

Net Change 
Other 

No 

Balance at  
30 June 

No 
Total Vested 

No 

Total 
Exercisable 
at 30 June 

2010 
No 

Sharon Heng 45,509,836 - 1,800,000 (1,000,000) 46,309,836 46,309,836 23,809,836 
Hunt Tao Han 100,000 - 500,000 - 600,000 600,000 550,000 
Timothy Turner 200,000 - 500,000 - 700,000 700,000 600,000 
Ivan Wu 3,900,000 - 1,600,000 - 5,500,000 5,500,000 3,800,000 
Steve Shelton (i) - - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Total 49,709,836 - 5,400,000 (1,000,000) 54,109,836 54,109,836 29,759,836 
 
(i) In addition there exists a number of incentive options that will vest to Mr Stephen Shelton, the 

Exploration Manager: 
 

(a) 1,000,000 $0.30 options upon the Company’s share price remaining at or above $0.40 for 
30 consecutive trading days; 

(b) 1,000,000 $0.30 options upon the Company’s share  price remaining at or above $0.70 for 
30 consecutive trading days; 

(c) 500,000 to $0.30 options upon publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 
500,000 ounces of gold; and 

(d) 500,000 $0.30 options upon publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 50 million 
tonnes of iron ore. 

 
These incentive options are not exercisable at 30 June 2010. 
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7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Option Holdings (Continued) 
 

2009 

Balance  
at 1 July 

No 

Balance on 
Appointment 

No 

Granted During 
the Year as 

Compensation 
No 

Net Change 
Other 

No 

Balance at  
30 June 

No 
Total Vested 

No 

Total 
Exercisable at 
30 June 2009 

No 
Sharon Heng 45,000,000 - - 509,836 45,509,836 45,509,836 23,009,836 
Hunt Tao Han 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000 50,000 
Timothy Turner 200,000 - - - 200,000 200,000 100,000 
Ivan Wu - 3,400,000 - 500,000 3,900,000 3,900,000 2,200,000 
Daniel Baldwin - - 1,000,000  1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Total 45,300,000 3,400,000 1,000,000 1,009,836 50,709,836 50,709,836 26,359,836 
 
(d) Performance Shareholdings 
 

2010 
Balance  

at 1 July 2010 
Received as 

Compensation 
Balance at  

30 June Total Vested 
Total Exercisable 
at 30 June 2010 

Sharon Heng 28,000,000 - 28,000,000 - - 
 28,000,000 - 28,000,000 - - 
 

2009 
Balance  

at 1 July 2009 
Received as 

Compensation 
Balance at  

30 June Total Vested 
Total Exercisable 
at 30 June 2009 

Sharon Heng 28,000,000 - 28,000,000 - - 
 28,000,000 - 28,000,000 - - 
 
(e) Loans to Key Management Personnel 
 
There have been no loans made to key management personnel (2009: Nil). 
 
(f) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel  
 
Refer to Note 18 for details on other transactions with key management personnel. 
 
8. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Remuneration of the auditor for:   
- Auditing or reviewing the financial report – KPMG - 61,699 
- Auditing or reviewing the financial report – Grant Thornton Audit Pty 

Ltd 
 

31,221 
 

- 
Total remuneration for assurance services 31,221 61,699 
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
 
Cash at bank and on hand 2,624,732 1,215,706 
 2,624,732 1,215,706 
 
The effective interest rate on cash at bank was 5.30% (2009: 5.74%). The account is at call. 
 
10. OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
Current 
Sundry Receivables 77,996 40,148 
 77,996 40,148 
 
The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty. All 
receivables are from Australian banks and government. No amounts are past due nor impaired. 
 
 
11. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Furniture, fittings and equipment 
At cost 84,059 74,443 
Accumulated depreciation (39,559) (11,169) 
 44,500 63,274 
Leased motor vehicles 
At cost 148,466 148,466 
Accumulated amortisation (73,114) (36,100) 
 75,352 112,366 
   
TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 119,852 175,640 
 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of plant and equipment at the beginning and end 
of the financial year are set at below: 
 

2010 
Leased Motor Vehicles  

$ 

Furniture, Fittings and 
Equipment  

$ 
Total  

$ 
Net carrying value at 1 July 2009 112,366 63,274 175,640 
Additions - 9,616 9,616 
Depreciation (37,014) (28,390) (65,404) 
Net carrying value at 30 June 2010 75,352 44,500 119,852 
    
2009    
Net carrying value at 1 July 2008 - - - 
Additions 148,466 74,443 222,909 
Depreciation (36,100) (11,169) (47,269) 
Net carrying value at 30 June 2009 112,366 63,274 175,640 
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12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Non-Current   
Costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in:   
Exploration and evaluation phases – at cost 9,866,119 9,808,662 
   
Movement in carrying amounts   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 9,808,662 10,198,988 
Exploration assets acquired - 557,098 
Exploration expenditure capitalised 909,752 506,028 
Less exploration written-off on areas to be relinquished  

(852,295) 
 

(1,453,452) 
   
Carrying amount at the end of the year 9,866,119 9,808,662 
 
The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation is dependent on: 
 
• the continuance of the Company’s rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 
• the results of future exploration; and 
• the recoupment of costs through successful development and commercial exploitation of the 

areas of interest, or alternatively, by their sale. 
 
The Company’s exploration properties may be subjected to claim(s) under native title, or contain 
sacred sites, or sites of significance to Aboriginal people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas 
within the tenements may be subject to exploration restrictions, mining restrictions and/or claims for 
compensation.  At this time, it is not possible to quantify whether such claims exist, or the quantum of 
such claims. 
 
Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
The ultimate recoupment of the value of exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale, of the underlying mineral exploration 
properties.  The Company undertakes at least on an annual basis, a comprehensive review for 
indicators or impairment of these assets.  Should an indicator exist, then the area of interest is tested 
for impairment. There is significant estimation and judgement in determining the inputs and 
assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts. 
 
In addition, an allocation of the cost associated with acquired mineral rights to individual projects was 
performed during the year.  This allocation process required estimates and judgement by 
management as to the fair value of those projects acquired.  
 
  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 66 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Current   
Trade payables 53,798 22,868 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 62,444 543,995 
Deferred consideration (i) - 83,250 
 116,242 650,113 
 
Trade creditors and sundry payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 45 day 
terms. 
 
(i) Amounts payable as deferred consideration in relation to the acquisition of exploration 

tenements satisfied by the issue of 925,000 shares. 
 
 
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Current 

  

Liability for annual leave 47,492 22,827 
 47,492 22,827 
 
 
15. BORROWINGS 
 
Lease Liabilities 

  

Current 34,608 31,424 
Non current 66,590 101,198 
 101,198 132,622 
 
The lease liability represents amounts due on non-cancellable finance leases entered into by the 
Company for motor vehicles with an effective interest rate of 9.69% (2009: 9.69%). 
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16. ISSUED CAPITAL 
 
  2010  2009 
156,103,280 Fully paid ordinary shares (30 June 2009: 88,682,501) (a)  16,157,790  13,517,062 
     
 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 

 No $ No $ 
(a) Fully paid ordinary shares      
     
At the beginning of the reporting year 88,682,501 13,517,062 86,620,001 13,378,734 
     
Shares issued during the reporting year     
     
29 April 2009 - Shares issued as part consideration for the purchase of mining 
tenements at 16 cents per share  

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,562,500 

 
250,000 

19 June 2009 - Shares issued as part consideration for the purchase of mining 
tenements at 9 cents per share  

 
- 

 
- 

 
500,000 

 
45,000 

24 September 2009 - Shares issued as final consideration for the purchase of 
exploration tenements at 9 cents per share  

 
925,000 

 
83,250 

 
- 

 
- 

9 October 2009 - Shares issued pursuant to a 2 for 1 rights issue  44,341,241 1,995,356 - - 
9 October 2009 - Shares issued as part consideration for advisor’s fee  244,445 11,000 - - 
7 December 2009 - Private placement to sophisticated investors as approved 
by shareholders at 2009 AGM 
 

 
20,909,093 

 
2,299,993 

 
- 

 
- 

31 March 2010 – Exercise  of options 
 
7 April 2010 – Share placement at 11 cents per share 

 

1,000,000 
 

1,000 

100,000 
 

110 

- 
 

- 

- 
 

- 

Transaction costs relating to share issues - (1,848,981) - (156,672) 
At reporting date 156,103,280 16,157,790 88,682,501 13,517,062 
 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of shares held irrespective of the amount paid up or credited as paid up, less any 
amounts which remain unpaid on these shares at the time of the distribution. 
 
At shareholders’ meetings each share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid up amount of the 
share when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 
 
(b)  Capital Management 
 
The Board as a whole controls the capital of the Company in order to ensure the Company can fund 
its operations and continue as a going concern. The Directors oversee the risk management strategy. 
 
The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities supported by financial assets. There are no externally 
imposed capital requirements.  The Board effectively manage the entity’s capital by assessing the 
entity’s financial risks and responding to changes in these risks and in the market. This strategy is to 
ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet trade payables and ongoing exploration expenditure 
commitments.  The Company is dependent on its ability to raise capital from the issue of equity from 
time to time.   
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17. RESERVES 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Option Premium Reserve (a) 90,539 90,539 
Share-Based Payment Reserve (b) 10,778,056 6,935,496 
 10,868,595 7,026,035 
 
(a) The option premium reserve is used to recognise premiums paid by option holders, net of 

transaction costs. 
 
Balance at the beginning of the reporting year 90,539 - 
Options issued during the year (i) - 101,556 
Less: Transaction costs on issuing options - (11,017) 
Balance at the end of the reporting year 90,539 90,539 
   

(i) 10,155,572 options were issued pursuant to non-renounceable rights issue at one cent 
each with an exercise price at 25 cents and an expiry date of 7 January 2012. 

 
(b) The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options and 

performance shares issued. 
 
Balance at the beginning of the reporting year 6,935,496 5,777,434 
   
Vesting component of performance shares granted 7 January 2008 (refer 
Note 24) 582,290 1,098,462 
   
1,000,000 options granted 1 December 2008 under employee contract - 59,600 
   
9 October 2009 - 10,000,000 options issued to underwriters of rights 
issue 1,125,049 - 
   
19 November 2009 – 5,000,000 options issued to corporate advisors 365,045 - 
   
7 December 2009 - 3,500,000 options issued to broker of private 
placement 367,687 - 
   
Vesting of employee option 81,724 - 
   
1 April 2010 - 3,230,000 options issued to employees per 1 April 2010 
members’ meeting 405,365 - 
   
1 April 2010 - 2,800,000 options issued to directors per 1 April 2010 
members’ meeting 351,400 - 
   
8 April 2010 - 6,000,000 options issued to corporate advisor 564,000 - 
   
   
Balance at the end of the reporting year 10,778,056 6,935,496 

 
Refer to Note 24 for further details on share-based payments. 
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transactions between related parties are on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 
 
Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
 
Key management personnel remuneration is as follows: 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Short-term employee benefits 577,156 555,993 
Post employment benefits 44,191 42,729 
Share-based payments 1,216,214 1,180,897 
TOTAL 1,837,561 1,779,619 
 
Details of key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements 
and in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ report. 
 
Refer to Note 7 for shares and options issued to key management personnel and their personally 
related entities during the year. 
 
Other transactions with key management personnel and their personally related entities 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Provision of management services by Zen Resources Pty Ltd, an entity 
related to Sharon Heng and Ivan Wu 312,915 369,072 
 
Provision of accountancy services by Hewitt Turner & Gelevitis, an entity 
related to Director, Timothy Paul Turner 53,797 51,437 
   
Outstanding balances arising from these transactions   
Trade and other payables 12,100 14,150 
Employee benefits 59,711 29,084 
 
 
19. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Identification of Reportable Segments 
 
The Company has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing performance and 
determining the allocation of resources. 
 
The Company is managed on the basis of there being 2 (two) reportable segments being: 
 

(i) Gold exploration and development in Australia; and 
(ii) Iron ore exploration and development in Australia. 

 
The mineral assets held via outright ownership or joint venture are considered 2 (two) business 
segments being gold and iron ore in Australia. 
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19. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments: 
 
(a) Accounting policies adopted 
 

Unless otherwise stated, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the Chief Decision 
Makers with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting 
policies that are consistent to those adopted in the financial statements of the Company. 
 

(b) Inter-segment transactions 
 

There are no inter-segment transactions.  Segment assets are clearly identifiable on the basis of 
their nature.  Segment liabilities include trade and other payables. 
 

(c) Corporate charges are not allocated to reporting segments. 
 

(d) Comparative information 
 

This is the first reporting period in which AASB8 has been adopted.  Comparative information has 
been restated to conform to the requirements of this standard. 
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19. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
Segment Performance 
 

Western Australia  
Iron Ore 

Western Australia 
Gold 

Total 

2010 $ $ $ 
SEGMENT REVENUE - - - 

 
Reconciliation of segment revenue to total company revenue 
 
Interest revenue 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

101,836 
Total revenue - - 101,836 
    
SEGMENT NET LOSS BEFORE TAX    
Exploration tenements written off 581,664 270,631 852,295 
Segment loss 581,664 270,631 852,295 

 
Reconciliation of segment result to total company loss after tax 
 
Depreciation 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

65,404 
Corporate charges - - 3,576,416 
Total loss before tax 581,664 270,631 4,494,115 
    
SEGMENT ASSETS 7,258,572 2,607,547 9,866,119 
 
Reconciliation of segment assets to company assets 
 
Unallocated assets: 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,624,732 
Other receivables - - 77,996 
Plant and equipment - - 119,852 
Total assets 7,258,572 2,607,547 12,688,699 
    

Segment asset increases/(decreases) for the year: 
 

(477,472) 
 

534,929 
 

57,457 
    
SEGMENT LIABILITIES - - - 
 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to company liabilities 
 
Unallocated liabilities: 

   

Trade and other payables - - 116,242 
Employee benefits - - 47,492 
Borrowings - - 101,198 
Total liabilities  - - 264,932 
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19. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Segment Performance 
 

Western Australia  
Iron Ore 

Western Australia 
Gold 

Total 

2009 $ $ $ 
SEGMENT REVENUE - - - 

 
Reconciliation of segment revenue to total company revenue 
 
Interest revenue 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

125,515 
Total revenue - - 125,515 
    
SEGMENT NET LOSS BEFORE TAX    
Exploration tenements written off - 1,453,452 1,453,452 
Segment loss - 1,453,452 1,453,452 

Reconciliation of segment result to total company loss after tax 
 

   
 
 

 
Corporate charges - - 2,413,177 
Total loss before tax - 1,453,452 3,866,629 
    
SEGMENT ASSETS 7,736,044 2,072,618 9,808,662 
 
Reconciliation of segment assets to company assets 
 
Unallocated assets: 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents - - 1,215,706 
Other receivables - - 40,148 
Plant and equipment - - 175,640 
Total assets 7,736,044 2,072,618 11,240,156 
    

Segment asset increases/(decreases) for the year: 
 

248,432 
 

(638,756) 
 

(390,324) 
    
SEGMENT LIABILITIES - - - 
 
Reconciliation of segment liabilities to company liabilities 
 
Unallocated liabilities: 

   

Trade and other payables - - 650,113 
Employee benefits - - 22,827 
Borrowings - - 132,622 
Total liabilities  - - 805,562 
 
 
 
 
  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 73 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
 
20. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
 
The Company has signed a letter of offer with Hawthorn Resources Limited (“Hawthorn”) to enter into 
a joint venture arrangement to farm into Hawthorn’s Mt Bevan Iron Ore project. The Company would 
be required to meet a minimum spend of $3,500,000 on or before 31 December 2012 to acquire a 
60% interest in the project.  Further within 14 days of Legacy executing the agreement, Legacy has 
committed to participate in a placement of 250,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares in Hawthorn at an 
issue price of $0.006 each per share.  This offer is still subject to the completion of due diligence, 
shareholder and regulatory approval and therefore subject to change. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Company. 
 
 
21. CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(a) Lease Commitments   
Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:   

Within 1 year 42,910 42,910 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 67,120 110,031 
Minimum lease payments 110,030 152,941 
Future finance charges (8,832) (20,319) 
Recognised as a liability 101,198 132,622 

 
Commitments in relation to cancellable operating leases not recognised as liabilities: 
 

Within 1 year 5,448 5,448 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 16,344 16,344 
 21,792 21,792 

 
(b) Consultancy, Administrative and Management Services Commitments 
 
Commitments in relation to employment, consultancy, administrative and management services 
agreements are payable as follows: 
 

Within 1 year (i) 450,091 580,550 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 72,000 64,800 
 522,091 645,350 

 
(i) Included in the 2010 amount of $450,091 (2009: $580,550) is a fee of $ NIL (2009: $48,000) 

is payable through the issues of shares.  An additional amount of $ NIL (2009: $1,000) is 
payable through the issue of shares, to each member of the Advisory Committee for each 
meeting held during the year. 
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21. CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Minimum Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
 
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration and mining tenements, the Company has 
the following discretionary exploration expenditure and rental requirements up until expiry of leases. 
These obligations, which are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the leases, are not provided for in 
the financial statements and are payable: 
 

Within 1 year 947,257 723,215 
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 3,789,029 2,892,860 
 4,736,286 3,616,075 

 
If the Company decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these requirements, assets 
recognised in the balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying 
values. The sale, transfer or farm out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish 
these obligations. 
 
 
22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
(a) Financial Risk Management Policies 
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and 
accounts payable. 
 
Derivatives are not used by the Company. 
 

(i) Treasury Risk Management 
 The Board analyses financial risk exposure and evaluates treasury strategies in the context of 

the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. 
 
 The overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Company in meeting its financial 

targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. 
 

(ii) Financial Risk Exposure and Management 
 The main risks the Company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate 

risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Exposure to interest rate arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at reporting date 
whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair value of fixed financial 
instruments. Interest rate risk is managed by the Company only using fixed rates on debt. Refer to 
Note 22(b) (i) & (ii) for further details on interest rate risk. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.  Trade and 
other payables have contractual maturities of six (6) months or less. 
 
Credit Risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at 
balance date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. 
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
There are no other material amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2010. 
 
The Board manages credit risk by only depositing cash with Australian Authorised deposit taking 
institutions. 
 
As the Company operates primarily in exploration activities, it does not have trade receivables and 
therefore is not exposed to credit risk in relation to trade receivables.  Management does not expect 
any counterparty in respect of other receivables to fail to meet its obligations. 
 
The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure: 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Other receivables 77,996 40,148 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,624,732 1,215,706 
 2,702,728 1,255,854 
 
None of the Company’s other receivables are past due (2009: Nil). 
 
(b) Financial Instruments 
 
(i) Derivative Financial Instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments are not used by the Company. 
 
(ii)  Financial Instrument Composition and Maturity Analysis  
 
The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a 
fixed period maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments. As such the amount may not reconcile to the balance sheet. 
 

2010 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest Rate 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
over 5 Years 

$ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing 
Maturing 
within 6 
Months 

$ 
Total  

$ 
Financial assets       
Cash & cash equivalents 5.30 609,697 2,014,935 - 100 2,624,732 
Loans & receivables  - - - 77,996 77,996 
  609,697 2,014,935  78,096 2,702,728 
Financial liabilities (at 
amortised cost)       
Trade & other payables  - - - (116,242) (116,242) 
Borrowings 9.69 - (34,608) (66,590) - (101,198) 
  - (34,608) (66,590) (116,242) (217,440) 
Net financial 
assets/(liabilities)  609,697 1,980,327 (66,590) (38,146) 2,485,288 
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

2009 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest Rate 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
within 1 Year 

$ 

Fixed Interest 
Rate Maturing 
over 5 Years 

$ 

Non-Interest 
Bearing 
Maturing 
within 6 
Months 

$ 
Total  

$ 
Financial assets       
Cash & cash equivalents 5.74 1,215,706 - - - 1,215,706 
Loans & receivables  - - - 40,148 40,148 
  1,215,706 - - 40,148 1,255,854 
Financial liabilities  
(at amortised cost)       
Trade & other payables  - - - (650,113) (650,113) 
Borrowings 9.69 - (31,424) (101,198) - (132,622) 
  - (31,424) (101,198) (650,113) (782,735) 
Net financial 
assets/(liabilities)  1,215,706 (31,424) (101,198) (609,965) 473,119 
 
 
All trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid in less than 6 months. 
 
(iii) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The net fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value. 
 
(iv) Sensitivity Analysis  
 
Interest Rate Risk  
The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results 
and equity which could result from a change in this risk. 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis  
As 30 June 2010, the effect on loss and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other 
variables remaining constant would be as follows: 
 
 (Higher)/Lower 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(Increase)/Decrease in loss   
- Increase in interest rate by 1% 26,247 12,157 
- Decrease in interest rate by 1% (26,247) (12,157) 
Change in equity   
- Increase in interest rate by 1% 26,247 12,157 
- Decrease in interest rate by 1% (26,247) (12,157) 
 
The movements in the loss for the year are due to higher/lower interest revenue from cash balances. 
 
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. 
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23. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
(i) Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with 

Loss from or after Income Tax   
- Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (4,494,115) (3,866,629) 
Non-cash flows in loss from ordinary activities   
- Share-based payments expense 2,349,824 1,158,062 
- Depreciation 65,404 47,269 
- Exploration tenements written off 852,295 1,453,452 
Changes in assets and liabilities   
- (Increase)/decrease in other receivables (34,881) 36,006 
- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,265 (131,718) 
- Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits  33,456 (135,642) 
Net cash outflows from operating activities (1,226,752) (1,439,200) 
   
(ii) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities   
- Acquisition of interest in mineral tenements by means of share issue 
and deferred share issue 83,250 378,250 
- Acquisition of motor vehicle by means of finance lease - 148,466 
- Capital raising costs paid for by way of issue of options (1,492,736) - 
   
(iii) Finance Facilities   
At the reporting date the Company has the following finance facilities 
representing finance leases   
Amount used 101,198 132,622 
Amount unused - - 
Total facility 101,198 132,622 

 
 

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
The following options were granted to Directors, employees, promoters, vendors and advisers for no 
consideration as part of their remuneration package and/or ongoing support of the Company.  All 
options granted confer a right of one ordinary share for every option held. Options granted under the 
plan carry no dividend or voting rights. 
 

Option Grantee 
 

Grant Date 
 

Expiry Date 
 

Exercise 
Price 

$ 

Granted during 
Year 
No 

Exercisable at 
End of Year  

No 

 

Key Management Personnel 1/12/2008 7/01/2012 0.25 1,000,000 1,000,000 (i) 
Key Management Personnel 1/12/2008 7/01/2012 0.25 1,000,000 - (ii) 
Key Management Personnel 1/12/2008 7/01/2012 0.40 1,000,000 - (ii) 
Key Management Personnel 1/12/2008 7/01/2012 0.60 1,500,000 - (ii) 
Underwriters 19/11/2009 31/12/2012 0.10 10,000,000 10,000,000  
Corporate Advisors 19/11/2009 31/12/2012 0.10 5,000,000 5,000,000  
Brokers 7/12/2009 31/12/2012 0.15 3,500,000 3,500,000  
Key Management Personnel 1/4/2010 31/12/2012 0.10 1,000,000 1,000,000  
Key Management Personnel 1/4/2010 31/12/2012 0.30 1,000,000 - (iii) 
Key Management Personnel 1/4/2010 31/12/2012 0.30 1,000,000 - (iv) 
Key Management Personnel 1/4/2010 31/12/2012 0.30 500,000 - (v) 
Key Management Personnel 1/4/2010 31/12/2012 0.30 500,000 - (vi) 
Employees 1/4/2010 1/4/2015 0.25 3,230,000 3,230,000  
Key Management Personnel 6/4/2010 1/4/2015 0.25 2,800,000 2,800,000  
Corporate Advisors 8/4/2010 7/1/2012 0.22 6,000,000 6,000,000  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED 

 
24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
(i) Options issued to an employee under the Legacy Iron Ore Limited employee contract; 

 
(ii) Options did not vest and rights to options were relinquished during the year when employee 

resigned in 2010; 
 

(iii) Options will be issued upon the share price of the Company remaining at or above $0.40 per 
share for 30 consecutive days; 

 
At 30 June 2010 the Directors have estimated conditions will be met 31 December 2010. 
Accordingly the vesting of the options has been made progressively from date of issue to 31 
December 2010. 
 

(iv) Options will be issued upon the share price of the Company remaining at or above $0.70 per 
share for 30 consecutive days; 

 
At 30 June 2010 the Directors have estimated conditions will be met 31 December 2011. 
Accordingly the vesting of the options has been made progressively from date of issue to 31 
December 2011. 
 

(v) Options will be issued upon publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 500,000 
ounces of gold. 

 
At 30 June 2010 the Directors have estimated conditions will be met 30 June 2011. 
Accordingly the vesting of the options has been made progressively from date of issue to 30 
June 2011. 
 

(vi) Options will be issued upon publication of a JORC compliant resource of at least 50 million 
tonnes of iron ore. 
 

At 30 June 2010 the Directors have estimated conditions will be met 30 June 2011.  Accordingly, the 
vesting of the options has been made progressively from date of issue to 30 June 2011. 
 
Fair Value of Options and Performance Shares Granted  
 
The fair value of the options granted to employees, Directors and advisors is deemed to represent the 
value of the employees, Directors or advisors services received over the vesting period. 
 
The assessed fair values at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2010 are set 
out in the tables below. The fair values at grant date are independently determined using a Binomial or 
Black and Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected volatility of the underlying 
share, the expected dividend yield, the probability of the share price reaching forecast target and the 
risk free interest rate for the term of the option. No allowance has been made for the effects of early 
exercise. 
 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.1022 (2009: $0.0596). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
 

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following inputs were applied into the pricing model: 
 

 
2010 

 
2009 

Weighted average price per share $0.12 $0.14 
Weighted average exercise price $0.16 $0.25 
Weighted average life of the option 3.23 years 2.77 years 
Weighted average expected share price volatility 175% 83.57% 
Weighted average risk free interest rate 5% 3.25% 
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 
 
Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it is assumed 
that this is indicative of future movements. 
 
Total amounts arising from share based payment transactions recognised during the year are as 
follows: 
 
 

 
2010 

$ 
2009 

$ 
Statement of Comprehensive Income:   
- Key management personnel remuneration 1,216,214 1,158,062 
- Employee remuneration 204,565 - 
- Corporate advisors  929,045 - 
 2,349,824 1,158,062 
Recognised directly in equity   
- Capital raising expenses 1,492,736 - 
 3,842,560 1,158,062 
 
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows: 
 

 Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of 
Options 

 2010 2010 2009 2009 
Outstanding at 1 July $0.25 67,155,572 $0.25 56,000,000 
Forfeited during the year - - $0.25 - 
Exercised during the year $0.10 (1,000,000) $0.25 - 
Granted during the year $0.16 41,985,047 $0.25 11,155,572 
Outstanding at 30 June $0.20 108,140,619 $0.25 67,155,572 
Exercisable at 30 June $0.20 108,140,619 $0.25 67,155,572 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was 2.22 years. 
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 
 
1 The Directors of the Company declare that: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes as set out on the accompanying pages, are in accordance 

with the Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

(i) give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of 
the performance for the year ended on that date;  
 

(ii) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional requirements; and  

 
(iii) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

 
(b) the Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary have each declared that: 
 

(i) the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained 
in accordance with s286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

(ii) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting 
Standards; and 

(iii) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 
 
(c) in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 

to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.  
 
 
 
 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sharon Heng 
Director 
Perth 
20 September 2010 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Shareholding 
 
The distribution of members and their holdings of unrestricted equity securities in the Company as at 
16 September 2010 was as follows: 
 
Category (Size of Holding) Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
1-1,000 27 
1,001-5,000 41 
5,001-10,000 128 
10,001-100,000 527 
100,001 and over 199 
Totals 922 
 
There were 68 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 
 
Substantial Shareholders 
 
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register as 16 September 2010]: 
 

Shareholder 
Number of Ordinary Fully  

Paid Shares Held 
% Held of Issued  
Ordinary Capital 

1. SHKIA Holdings Pty Ltd 28,000,000 17.94 
2. Miss Sharon Kia Le Heng 15,700,001 10.06 
3. Lagenda Resources Pty Ltd 7,600,000 4.87 
 
Unquoted equity securities 
 
There are 35,030,000 unlisted options held by one hundred and twenty seven (27) option holders. 
There are 28,000,000 unlisted performance shares held by one (1) share holder. 
  
Voting Rights 
 
The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows: 
 
Ordinary Shares 
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a 
meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. 
 
Options 
The options have no voting rights. 
 
Performance Shares 
The performance shares have no voting rights. 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Twenty Largest Shareholders 
The names of the twenty largest ordinary fully paid shareholders as at 16 September 2010 are as 
follows: 
 

Name 
Number of Ordinary Fully 

Paid Shares Held 
% Held of Issued Ordinary 

Capital 
1. SHKIA Holdings Pty Ltd 28,000,000 17.94 
2. Miss Sharon Kia Le Heng 15,700,001 10.06 
3. Lagenda Resources Pty Ltd 7,600,000 4.87 
4. HSBC Custody Nominees Australia Limited 4,500,000 2.88 
5. Western Resources Australia Pty Ltd 2,000,000 1.28 
6. Zen Resources Pty Ltd 2,000,000 1.28 
7. 888 Trading Limited 1,818,489 1.16 
8. Bell Catherine Emma 1,700,000 1.09 
9. Co Support Services Pty Ltd 1,588,167 1.02 
10. Petersons George Juris 1,530,000 0.98 
11. DT Resource Limited 1,500,000 0.96 
12. Lee Jason Shihan and Lu Baoting 1,444,444 0.93 
13. Tan Kong Hock and Ang Meng May Mary 1,382,505 0.89 
14. Celac Pty Ltd 1,350,000 0.86 
15. Fine Stafford 1,262,000 0.81 
16. Stronsay Pty Ltd 1,221,000 0.78 
17. Associated Metal Craft Pty Ltd 1,181,328 0.76 
18. Kelmine Pty Ltd 1,150,000 0.74 
19. IEWU Pty Ltd 1,100,000 0.70 
20. Molyneux Sally Judith 1,100,000 0.70 

 79,127,934 50.69 
 
 
The Company has used the cash and assets in form readily convertible to cash that it had at the time 
of admission on the ASX in a way consistent with its business objectives.   
 
  



LEGACY IRON ORE LIMITED Annual Report 2010 

Page 86 
 

SCHEDULE OF MINERAL TENEMENTS 
AS AT 25 August 2010 

 
The Company has an interest in the gold rights of the following tenements: 
 

Tenement Holder/Applicant 
Shares 

Held/Interest Area Size 
Gold    
E80/3897 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 23 Blocks 
E80/4220 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 10 Blocks 
E80/4221 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 34 Blocks 
E80/4222 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 11 Blocks 
E31/0717 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 30 Blocks 
E31/0928 Legacy Iron Ore Limited Pending 19 Blocks 
E31/0862 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 5 Blocks 
P31/1744 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 168 Hectares 
P31/1745 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 192 Hectares 
P31/1747 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 61 Hectares 
E31/0861 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 11 Blocks 
E39/1435 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 2 Blocks 
E31/0633 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 1 Block 
E31/0711 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 1 Block 
E31/652 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 2 Blocks  
E28/1648 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 4 Blocks 
E28/1609 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 15 Blocks 
E28/1536 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 13 Blocks 
E28/1417 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 7 Blocks 
E31/658 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 7 Blocks 
P31/1927 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 144 Hectares 
P31/1928 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 142 Hectares 
P31/1929 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 129 Hectares 
P31/1930 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 186 Hectares 
P31/1931 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 179 Hectares 
P31/1972 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 171 Hectares 
E31/0641 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 1 Block 
E28/1319 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 7 Blocks 
E28/1734 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 2 Blocks 
E39/1443 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 9 Blocks 
P39/5001 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 174 Hectares 
P31/5002 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 190 Hectares 
P31/5003 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 190 Hectares 
P31/5004 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 56 Hectares 
P31/5005 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 96 Hectares 
P31/5006 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 6 Hectares 
P31/5007 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 82 Hectares 
E31/0912 Legacy Iron Ore Limited Pending 14 Blocks 
    
M31/0427 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% 91 Hectares 
P31/1746 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% 200 Hectares 
E31/0703 Legacy Iron Ore Limited / Cazaly Resources 90% 3 Blocks 
    
M31/0335* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 938 Hectares 
M31/0379* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 735 Hectares 
E31/0759* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 12 Blocks 
M31/0107* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 456 Hectares 
M31/0229* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 78 Hectares 
M31/0230* Murrin Murrin Holdings / Glenmurrin Pty Ltd 90% 629 Hectares 
    
M31/0426** Jackson Minerals Limited 100% 29 Hectares 
E31/0716** Jackson Minerals Limited 100% 27 Blocks 
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SCHEDULE OF MINERAL TENEMENTS 
AS AT 25 August 2010 (CONTINUED) 

 
The Company has an interest in the iron ore rights of the following tenements: 
 

Tenement Holder/Applicant 
Shares 

Held/Interest Area Size 
Iron Ore    
E80/3711 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 18 Blocks 
E80/3714 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 12 Blocks 
E80/3923 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 20 Blocks 
E45/3394 Legacy Iron Ore Limited Pending 16 Blocks 
E45/3395 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 114 Blocks 
E46/0818 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 123 Blocks 
E47/1868 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 6 Blocks 
E47/1869 Legacy Iron Ore Limited 100% 10 Blocks 
 
*The Company has a 90% interest in the gold rights of these tenements. 
**In the progress of transferring the title to the Company. 
 
Key to Tenement Schedule 
E - Exploration Licence 
P - Prospecting Licence 
M - Mining Licence 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
The Directors of Legacy Iron Ore Limited believe that effective corporate governance improves 
company performance, enhances corporate social responsibility and benefits all stakeholders.  
Governance practices are not a static set of principles and the company assesses its governance 
practices on an ongoing basis.  Changes and improvements are made in a substance over form 
manner, which appropriately reflect the changing circumstances of the company as it grows and 
evolves.  Accordingly, the Board has established a number of practices and policies to ensure that 
these intentions are met and that all shareholders are fully informed about the affairs of the Company. 
The Company has a corporate governance section on the website at www.legacyiron.com.au. The 
section includes details on the company’s governance arrangements and copies of relevant policies 
and charters. 
 
ASX Corporate Governance Council Best Practice Principles and Recommendations (2nd 
Edition) 
 
For ease of comparison to the recommendations, the Corporate Governance statement addresses 
each of the 8 principles in turn.  Where the Company has not followed a recommendation this is 
identified with the reasons for not following the recommendation.  This disclosure is in accordance with 
ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3. 
 
The following table outlines which of the ASX recommendations the Company has not complied with.  
Reasons for non-compliance are explained in this report. 
 

ASX Recommendation Description 
2.4 The Board should establish a separate nomination committee 
4.1 The Board should establish a separate Audit Committee 
4.2 The Audit Committee should be structured so that it: 

• consists only of Non-Executive Directors; 
• consists of a majority of independent Directors; 
• is chaired by an independent Director, who is not chair of the 

Board; 
• has at least 3 members 

8.1 The Board should establish a separate remuneration committee 
 
1. Principle 1: Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 

 
Board of Directors – Role of the Board 
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. 
 
The purpose of the Board Charter is to set out the role, composition and responsibilities of the Board 
of Legacy Iron Ore Ltd within the corporate governance framework and to ensure: 
 
• at the roles and responsibilities of the Board are clear and understood by all relevant 

stakeholders; 
• The operation of the Board and the relationship between the Board and the management is 

clearly understood; and 
• All Directors have a clear understanding of the manner in which the Board will conduct itself and 

the Company’s expectations of them as Directors. 
 
The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company.  The Board 
recognises the need for the highest standards of behaviour and accountability for managing the 
Company’s business and affairs. 
 
  

http://www.legacyiron.com.au/�
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Responsibilities of the Board 
The Board’s responsibilities encompass the following: 
 
• Establishing the Company’s corporate level and business level goals and monitoring and 

implementing strategies to achieve these goals; 
• Setting the strategic direction and financial objectives of the Company and ensuring appropriate 

resources are available; 
• Monitoring the implementation of those policies and strategies and the achievement of those 

financial objectives; 
• Reviewing the performance of all Board members and overseeing succession plans for the 

senior executive team; 
• Ensuring that the Company has appropriate corporate governance structures in place including 

standards of ethical behaviour and a culture of corporate and social responsibility; 
• Ensuring that effective audit, risk and controls are in place to protect the Company’s assets; 
• Formulate risk management strategies and identify and design and implement policies; 
• Monitor the risk management process and strategies; 
• To set specific limits of authority for the executive management to commit to new expenditure 

and enter into new contracts without prior Board approval; 
• Ensuring that the Board is and remains appropriately skilled to meet the changing needs of the 

Company; 
• Monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements (including continuous disclosure); 
• Review the Board succession plans; 
• Monitoring ASX and regulatory disclosure requirements; 
• Monitoring the integrity of reporting including ensuring the preparation of accurate financial 

reports and statements; 
• Ensuring effective and timely reporting to various stakeholders; and 
• Ensuring that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the Company’s 

state of affairs. 
 
2. Principle 2: Structure the Board to Add Value 
 
Composition of the Board   
It is the policy of Legacy that the Board comprises members who combine a range of knowledge, skills 
and experience that are appropriate to its activities and objectives.  
 
The Board is currently comprised of three Directors, two of whom hold their positions in a Non-
Executive capacity. Mr Timothy Turner and Mr Hunt Han are independent, non-executive directors.  
Mr Timothy Turner holds the position as the independent chairperson. 
 
The composition of the Board is subject to review in the following ways: 
 
• The Company’s constitution provides that at every annual general meeting, one third of the 

Directors are to retire from office.  Each Director under the constitution is eligible for re-election. 
• The full Board considers its composition on a regular basis to ensure that it has available an 

appropriate mix of skills and experience to ensure the interest of shareholders are served. 
 
Independence 
The two Non-Executive Directors provide Board independence. 
 
The Board (and each individual Director) is entitled to seek independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense (subject to the reasonableness of the costs and Board consent) in the conduct of 
their duties for the Company. 
 
Board Committees  
The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size, or its affairs of such complexity, to 
justify the establishment of separate Board Committees.  Accordingly, at present all matters that may 
be capable of delegation to Committees are dealt with by the full Board. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Remuneration and Nomination Procedures 
The Board considers that the Company is not of a size to justify the formation of a remuneration or 
nomination Committee.  The Board is able to address these aspects of the Company’s activities and 
will adhere with the appropriate ethical standards and with the remunerations and nomination 
procedures. 
 
The Board will review the remuneration policies and packages of all Directors and senior executive 
officers on at least an annual basis. The Board will also periodically review the composition of the 
Board and make necessary changes to ensure that it comprises persons who have the skill and 
experience appropriate for the business activities and operations undertaken by the Company. 
 
If a vacancy occurs or if it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services and skills of an 
additional Director, the Board selects a panel of candidates with appropriate expertise and experience 
and appoints the most suitable candidate.  Any such appointee would be required under the 
constitution to retire at the next annual general meeting and is eligible for selection by the 
shareholders at that meeting. 
 
3. Principle 3: Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making 
 
Code of Conduct 
The Board recognises the need to observe the highest standards of corporate governance practice, 
business and ethical conduct by all Directors, employees, consultants and contractors.  Accordingly 
the Board has adopted a formal code of conduct to be followed by all employees, officers and external 
parties engaged by the Company.   
 
The key aspects of the code are: 
 
1. To act with honesty, integrity and fairness; 
2. To act in accordance with the law; 
3. To use the Company resources and property appropriately. 
 
Securities Trading Policy 
The Company has a formal securities dealing policy for Directors contained in the corporate ethics and 
securities trading policy. 
 
Under this policy Directors must not buy or sell securities in the week immediately before and following 
the lodgement of periodic reports required under the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules.  At other 
times, Directors may only buy or sell securities following consultation with the Chairman.  In all 
instances any person who possesses price sensitive information that is not available to the market is 
not permitted to buy or sell securities. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 and the Listing Rules, the Company on 
behalf of the Directors must advise the ASX of any transactions conducted by them in shares and/or 
options in the Company. 
 
4. Principle 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
The chief executive officer and chief financial officer have made the following certifications to the 
board that the company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the financial condition and operational results of the entity and are in accordance 
with relevant accounting standards. 
 
Audit Committee 
The company does not comply with ASX Recommendations 4.1 and 4.2 in that there is no separate 
audit committee, and it is not comprised only of non-executive directors.  Given the board comprises 
three directors it has been decided that there are no efficiencies to be gained from forming a separate 
audit committee.  The current board members carry out the roles that would otherwise be undertaken 
by an audit committee. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
5. Principle 5: Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure Policy 
The Company is committed to continuous disclosure of material information as a means of promoting 
transparency and investor confidence.  The Company’s practices are designed to ensure it is 
compliant with the ASX Listing Rules, including in particular those relating to continuous disclosure. 
 
6. Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders 
Communications to Shareholders 
The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting the 
Company’s state of affairs.  Information will be communicated to shareholders through the Company’s 
annual report, annual general meeting, half-yearly results announcements and other ASX 
announcements. 
 
7. Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk 
 
Risk Assessment and Management 
The company does not have a separate Risk Management Committee.  Given the current size of the 
company and board, the directors believe there are no efficiencies in forming a separate committee 
and the board as a whole performs this role. The company does not a have a single specific risk 
management policy but rather, financial and operating risks are addressed through individually 
approved policies and procedures covering financial, contract management, safety and environmental 
activities of the company.  Given the small size of the operations, the board does not believe it 
necessary for the Chief executive officer and chief financial officer to provide a statement in writing to 
the board that the financial reports of the Company are based upon sound risk management policy. 
 
Appointments to Other Boards 
Directors are required to take into consideration any potential conflicts of interest when accepting 
appointments to other Boards. 
 
Conflict of Interest 
In accordance with the Corporations Act and the Company’s Constitution, Directors must keep the 
Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the 
Company. Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists, the Director concerned does not 
receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is considered. 
 
8. Principle 8: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
 
Performance Evaluation of the Board and its Members 
The small size of the Board and the nature of the Company’s activities make the establishment of a 
remuneration committee and formal performance evaluation strategy unnecessary.  Performance 
evaluation is a discretionary matter for consideration by the entire Board and in the normal course of 
events the Board will review performance of the management, Directors and the Board as a whole.  
 
Company’s Remuneration Policies 
Remuneration levels for executives are competitively set to attract the most qualified and experienced 
candidates, taking into account prevailing market conditions and individual’s experience and 
qualifications. 
Each of the Non-Executive Directors receives a fixed fee for their services as Directors.   
The company’s remuneration policies are detailed in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ 
Report. 
 
Schemes for Retirement Benefits for Non-Executive Directors 
There are no retirement benefits for Non-Executive Directors. 
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